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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBEERE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
BZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended December 31
20214 20224 20234 2024
2021 2022 2023 2024
ARETTT AREBTRT ARETT AR%¥T:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 10,350,986 13,575,577 20,302,465 24,828,874
EA Gross profit 3,243,862 3,846,837 5,998,967 8,060,207
FRFE Profit for the year 1,911,942 2,013,091 3,186,605 4,454,203
BRELREF Basic earnings per
(AR¥TT) share (RMB) 5.32 5.55 8.71 12.32
AR EE FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS
HZE12A31H
As of December 31
20214 20224 20234 20245
2021 2022 2023 2024
ARETTT ARBTT AREBTT AR¥T:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBE Total assets 7,316,383 9,945356 14,593,566 19,783,322
B BB Total liabilities 1,773,673 2,466,089 3,998,101 4,722,502
ek Total equity 5,542,710 7,479,267 10,595,465 15,060,820
Re MIRTTHE R Cash and bank balances 2,737,692 2,829,284 6,037,524 7,617,853
UAREBE=EER Financial assets at fair value
BEET AEEN through profit or loss
EEMEE 900,237 1,865,676 746,046 3,491,643
mEEEFE Net current assets 3,367,588 4,217,412 5,413,872 7,379,213

HiaF - ANREIR2025F3 A3 H BRI ER 7 -
AARIERARERS QM B 2021 FHEAH
BER - Hit ER#FI 82021 FROESS

FENMBRHE -

Note: The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on March 3, 2025. The Company published financial
information since 2021 in the Prospectus, and therefore
the above table sets out the financial highlights for the four
accounting years since 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a global leading freshly-made drinks company. We
are committed to providing value-for-money products to
consumers, including freshly-made fruit drinks, tea drinks,
ice cream and coffee, typically priced around one U.S. dollar
(approximately RMB6) per item. We have two major brands
- freshly-made tea drinks brand Mixue and freshly-made
coffee brand Lucky Cup. Through a franchise model, we have
cultivated a network of over 46,000 stores spanning China
and 11 overseas countries as of December 31, 2024.

Our Brands and Products

Our Freshly-Made Tea Drinks Brand — Mixue

Mixue primarily offers freshly-made fruit drinks, tea drinks
and ice cream to consumers both in China and overseas
through an extensive store network. Our core Mixue products
typically have a price range of RMB2 to RMB8. Our Mixue
product offerings include both classic drinks and seasonal
and regional drinks.

Our Freshly-Made Coffee Brand — Lucky Cup

Building on Mixue’s success, we launched our freshly-made
coffee brand Lucky Cup in 2017 to further expand our product
categories. At Lucky Cup, we offer value-for-money coffee
made with meticulously selected ingredients and equipment.
Lucky Cup primarily offers freshly-made coffee drinks, ranging
from classic products to trendy, innovative ones. Our core
Lucky Cup products typically have a price range of RMB5 to
RMB10.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Our Store Network

Our store network spans over 46,000 stores serving
consumers both in and outside mainland China. As of
December 31, 2024, we have established a store presence
across 31 provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities,
including over 300 cities of all tiers. This extensive geographic
reach and deep penetration set us apart from other freshly-
made drinks brands in mainland China. We have also
established a growing presence in markets outside mainland
China, with approximately 4,900 stores as of December 31,
2024.

The following table sets forth the number of our stores in and
outside mainland China as of the dates indicated.

HZ=E12H31H
As of December 31,
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
41,584 33,234
4,895 4,331
46,479 37,565

The following table sets forth the number of our stores in
mainland China by city tier and their percentages of the total
number of stores in mainland China as of the dates indicated.

HZE12A318
As of December 31,
2024 % 20234
2024 2023

— IR First-tier cities 1,983 4.8% 1,513 4.6%
Fr— T New first-tier cities 8,143 19.6% 6,886 20.7%
iR Second-tier cities 7,600 18.2% 5,955 17.9%
BRI Third-tier and below cities 23,858 57.4% 18,880 56.8%
FR B A it P9 5 2 Total number of stores in

mainland China 41,584 100.0% 33,234 100.0%
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Our Franchise Model

We primarily employ a franchise model to grow our store
network. Under our franchise model, we authorize our
franchisees to sell freshly-made drinks through franchised
stores under our brands, while purchasing store supplies
and equipment from us as part of their daily operations.
Franchisees are the owners of these stores and are
accountable for their results of operations. We also stipulate
that franchisees adhere to our comprehensive, standardized
operational procedures and requirements.

We believe our interest-aligned franchise model drives our
franchisees’ decision to partner with us. To align interests
with our franchisees, we have systematically devised a range
of policies and measures. In terms of our revenue model,
franchise and related service fees are not our primary sources
of revenue. In 2024, 2.5% of our revenue was generated from
franchise and related services. Our expansive and highly
efficient supply chain provides franchisees with a competitive
one-stop solution, improving their profitability and elevating
consumer experience. We also demonstrate our interest-
aligned cooperation with franchisees through standardized
management and continuous support, empowering them
with a highly digitalized operational system to boost their
efficiency. Under the philosophy of aligning interests with
franchisees, we have together achieved an unparalleled store
scale and built a healthy and sustainable franchise model.
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The following table sets forth the movement of the number of
our franchised stores in and outside mainland China for the
periods indicated.

HZ=12A31H
As of December 31,

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
FH At the beginning of the year 37,516 28,929
FAFZE Openings during the year 10,555 9,894
FNEA Closures during the year (1,609) (1,307)
FR At the end of the year 46,462 37,516

BERMRANREMER - HPIWMNEPIE
HENRE R AMRIE N o FKPIA I BEFTEEL
EHEE2023F12 A31 AM37,516RIEEE
#HE£2024F12 A31 HM46,462FK ° 122023
FLAK2024F - BRAMNMBEFIEHED BB
1,307 %K % 1,609% ©

PEERMEBAER - FINATMIA I EE
ERME B ARBIEN - BN MBEHEEH
HZE2023F12 A31 HM16,784 B R EEHE
2024412 31 H#)20,976 % °

BMEEEEE L aHEME T 2AES
BERRWIRKMA @R - BLE20245F12
A31H ' BMWELMEHERITR  BE
2023412 A31 H A49%K -

Our strong brands and products drove a substantial rise in the
number of our franchised stores during the Reporting Period.
The number of our franchised stores increased from 37,516
as of December 31, 2023 to 46,462 as of December 31, 2024.
The number of franchised store closures was 1,307 and 1,609
in 2023 and 2024, respectively.

As our business grew, the number of franchisees joining us
increased substantially during the Reporting Period. The
number of our franchisees increased from 16,784 as of
December 31, 2023 to 20,976 as of December 31, 2024.

We strategically opened a limited number of self-operated
stores primarily to gain operating insights and reinforce our
brands. The number of our self-operated stores was 49 and
17 as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é
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Our Supply Chain

As the first company to establish centralized factories in
the freshly-made drinks industry in China, we operate an
expansive and highly digitalized end-to-end supply chain,
with the core ingredients being 100% self-produced.

° Procurement. Our extensive global procurement
network gives us access to quality raw materials, and
we also utilize digital tools to ensure the quality and
stability of our supplies. Our raw materials procurement
primarily comprises food commodities, agricultural
products and other auxiliary materials. With our global
procurement network extended to the origins of raw
materials, and our large procurement scale, we are able
to secure many core raw materials at prices below the
industry average. This enables us to attract consumers
and franchisees by offering products with greater
value for money. In December 2024, we entered into a
strategic collaboration with Junlebao, a leading dairy
company in China, to jointly establish a Snow King Dairy
Farm. Through this collaboration, we expect to further
secure priority access to quality raw milk, augmenting
our supply chain capabilities and product quality.

o Production. In 2012, we became the first company to
establish centralized factories in the freshly-made drinks
industry in China. Currently, we have five production
bases in Henan, Hainan, Guangxi, Chongqing and Anhui.
Through our in-house R&D and production capabilities,
we offer a one-stop ingredients solution covering full
product categories including syrups, milk, tea, coffee,
fruit, grains and condiments. These cost advantages,
brought by our extensive scale and our sophisticated
and intelligent production management, make it difficult
for other companies within our industry to replicate
and achieve the same level of quality and value for
money for core ingredients. In 2024, we obtained a
food production license for liquid milk products. This
milestone has paved the way for in-house fresh milk
production and expanded opportunities to refine our
product offerings.
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Logistics. As early as 2014, we became the first player
in China’s freshly-made drinks industry to build our own
logistics system. Our self-operated warehouse system
and dedicated delivery network support an extensive
store network. As of December 31, 2024, our warehouse
system in mainland China consists of 27 warehouses,
and we have established a local warehouse system in
four overseas countries. Our distribution network covers
31 provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities,
including over 300 cities in mainland China. As of
December 31, 2024, our distribution network also covers
four overseas countries.

R&D. Our R&D efforts focus on application R&D for
product flavors and recipes, as well as fundamental
R&D for ingredient-related technologies, production
techniques, recipes and equipment. Our key strength
is our ability to seamlessly and synergistically integrate
both application and fundamental R&D into our freshly
made drinks, allowing us to continuously upgrade
our core ingredients while consistently offering value
for money freshly-made drinks for consumers. The
fresh milk blend base we developed in 2024 is a prime
example of these capabilities. To meet consumers’
growing demand for health-conscious options while also
elevating our drinks’ flavor, we developed a proprietary
production technique for a fresh milk blend base. This
technique allows us to make fresher, healthier drinks
while achieving a velvety texture and rich, indulgent
taste.

Quality control. We maintain and implement robust
quality control standards to ensure the consistent high
quality of outputs throughout our entire supply chain.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é
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Our Iconic IP - Snow King (EX)

In 2018, to humanize our Mixue brand and deepen our
emotional connection with consumers, we introduced Snow
King, an endearing cartoon character who holds an ice
cream scepter, as our Mixue lifelong brand ambassador.
Since his debut, Snow King has endeared himself to fans
with his upright, friendly, passionate, and determined
personality. Centered around Snow King’s adorable persona,
we consistently create and release a variety of high-quality
audio and video content that is fun and engaging. Most
notably, Snow King stars in the music video of our catchy
and melodious Mixue theme song, “I Love You, You Love
Me, Mixue Ice Cream & Tea”. In August 2023, we launched
an animated TV series, “The Legend of Snow King”, bringing
Snow King’s adorable persona and sweet stories to life.
Building on a loyal following, we launched another animated
TV series, “Snow King and the Sands of Mystery”, on
December 21, 2024. Through years of content creation and
IP operations, Snow King has become the sole iconic IP in
China’s freshly-made drinks industry, setting our brand apart
from other brands in the industry.

Marketing

Our value proposition of offering value-for-money products
and our brand culture centered around sweetness and love
have enabled Mixue to become a household brand with a vast
consumer and fan base.

We have established a comprehensive online branding and
marketing matrix to accelerate brand building. We leverage
social media and creative content to promote Snow King
IP-related marketing online. As of December 31, 2024, the
hashtag #Mixue had garnered over 43.5 billion views on
Douyin. Offline, we connect with our vast consumer base
through our expansive network of over 46,000 stores and a
variety of activities such as Snow King parades and music
festivals. We also seamlessly integrate online-offline events
for effective marketing campaigns.
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Digitalization

Digitalization plays a key role in our operations, enhancing
operational efficiency and contributing to our sustainable
growth. Our digital infrastructure encompasses integrated
digital management systems designed to support various
key aspects of our business, including online ordering, store
operations, supply chain and corporate management, among
others. Moreover, we directly interact with our consumers
through our proprietary Mixue app and our Mini Programs
on Weixin and Alipay, allowing us to accumulate first-hand
consumer insights.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

For over 20 years, we have built strong and successful brands
by staying simple and focused. We will continue to capture
changing trends and build sustainable global brands lasting
for centuries with the following strategies:

o Solidifying our strong leadership in China’s freshly-
made drinks industry and pursuing overseas
expansion opportunities

We will continue to grow our store network in China.
For Mixue, we will further enter into new markets and
expand in existing markets to cover a broader consumer
base. For Lucky Cup, we plan to leverage our Group’s
robust supply chain and strong operational capabilities
to accelerate our nationwide store expansion. Primarily
offering mass-market freshly-made drinks, we believe
our penetration and expansion plans will address
consumers’ common demands for quality products with
value for money.
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Overseas, while our specific plans for each country or
region will be adjusted based on the local operational
environment and our performance, we will remain
focused on cultivating the Southeast Asia market,
and continue to expand our franchised store network
locally. Additionally, we plan to tap into other markets
in due course to build a more globalized brand. We
use a holistic approach in determining the specific
markets to enter, taking into account population size,
economic growth, income level, local culture, consumer
preferences, etc.

Further strengthening infrastructure and operational
systems to fulfill our vision to build brands lasting for
centuries

First, we will enhance our end-to-end supply chain. In
China, we will continue to elevate the breadth and depth
of our supply chain, secure more diverse premium
resources, build a more agile and efficient logistics
system, continue to invest steadily in production
capacity expansion, and enhance R&D and innovation
driven by new technologies and new materials.
Internationally, we aim to establish a more versatile
and dynamic global supply chain platform to effectively
support our globalization strategies and overseas
business expansion.
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Additionally, we are committed to advancing our
digitalization and intelligization efforts across business
processes, enhancing operational efficiency and
quality. For example, we will continue to refine our
digital marketing and consumer management system
to address market demands more effectively. We
will also continuously strengthen our smart store
solutions, covering site selection, store operations,
and store supply replenishment systems, to empower
our franchisees. To improve production efficiency
and quality, we will further enhance our advanced
manufacturing capabilities across automation,
digitalization, and intelligentization and fully utilize
leading equipment, robotics and advanced production
management systems.

Furthermore, we will further cultivate our brand IP. Our
goal is to elevate Snow King into a distinctive global
cultural symbol by extending his cultural significance
beyond the realm of drinks into everyday life, enriching
his cultural connotation and unlocking his cultural
potential. Specifically, we will broaden Snow King’s
content matrix by curating additional high-quality
content in diverse formats including but not limited to
animated series, movies and featured merchandise, and
continue to launch IP collaboration with various leading
brands to expand our brand influence.

Lastly, we are dedicated to long-term sustainability
and continuously creating social value. Our social
responsibility efforts will concentrate on technological
innovation, ecological environment, education, and rural
revitalization.
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REVENUE

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB24,828.9 million in
2024, representing an increase of 22.3% as compared with
RMB20,302.5 million in 2023. Such increase was primarily
attributed to increased revenue generated from sales of
goods and equipment, and to a lesser extent, from franchise
and related services.

Revenue from sales of goods and equipment increased by
21.7% from RMB19,896.8 million in 2023 to RMB24,208.8
million in 2024. Revenue from franchise and related services
increased by 52.8% from RMB405.7 million in 2023 to
RMB620.1 million in 2024. Such increase was primarily fueled
by the expansion of our store network.

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales increased by 17.2% from RMB14,303.5
million in 2023 to RMB16,768.7 million in 2024, primarily
driven by the increase in sales.

GROSS PROFIT

In 2024, the gross profit of the Group was RMB8,060.2
million, representing an increase of 34.4% as compared with
RMB5,999.0 million in 2023. The increase in our overall gross
profit was primarily driven by the increase in the gross profit
margin for sales of goods and equipment.

In particular, the gross profit margin for sales of goods
increased from 28.8% in 2023 to 31.6% in 2024, primarily
attributed to enhanced supply chain efficiency as well as
decreased purchase cost for certain raw materials.

The gross profit margin of our franchise and related services
improved from 79.6% in 2023 to 80.4% in 2024, primarily
due to enhanced economies of scale as our franchised store
network continued to expand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Our other income and gains, net decreased by 11.3% from
RMB247.6 million in 2023 to RMB219.5 million in 2024. This
was primarily due to decreases in government grants as
the timing of receiving such subsidies is usually uncertain,
resulting in fluctuations in their amounts, partially offset by
the rise in interest income in line with our increasing time
deposits.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 21.3%
from RMB1,318.6 million in 2023 to RMB1,599.5 million in
2024. Sales and distribution expenses accounted for 6.4%
of our total revenue, remaining relatively steady as compared
with 6.5% in 2023.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses increased by 23.7% from
RMB610.6 million in 2023 to RMB755.1 million in 2024.
Administrative expenses accounted for 3.0% of our total
revenue, remaining steady as compared with 3.0% in 2023.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses increased by 23.4%
from RMB85.0 million in 2023 to RMB104.9 million in 2024.
Research and development expenses accounted for 0.4% of
our total revenue, remaining steady as compared with 0.4% in
2023.

FINANCE COSTS
Our finance costs decreased by 56.5% from RMB14.7 million

in 2023 to RMB6.4 million in 2024, primarily due to repayment
of bank borrowings.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense increased from RMB967.4 million
in 2023 to RMB1,356.4 million in 2024, primarily due to our
increased profit before tax.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the aforementioned changes, our profit for the
year increased by 39.8% from RMB3,186.6 million in 2023 to
RMB4,454.2 million in 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND SOURCE OF FUNDING

The Group has adopted a prudent liquidity management
policy. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we funded
our cash requirements principally through cash generated
from our operations. As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and restricted
cash and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to RMB11,109.5 million, representing an increase
of 63.8% compared to RMB6,783.6 million as of December
31, 2023. For more details, please refer to note 41 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not make or hold any significant investments
on a standalone basis as of December 31, 2024 (including
any investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or
more of the Group’s total assets as of December 31, 2024).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated entities or associated
companies during the year ended December 31, 2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any pledge
of assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSET

The Group did not have detailed future plans for material
investments or capital assets as of December 31, 2024.

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio (i.e. total
liability divided by total assets as of the end of the period and
multiplied by 100%) was 23.9%, compared with 27.4% as of
December 31, 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the vast majority of our revenue
and expenditures were denominated in Renminbi, while
the net proceeds from the Global Offering were in Hong
Kong dollars. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the
Renminbi and the Hong Kong dollar will affect the relative
purchasing power in Renminbi in terms of the proceeds from
our Global Offering. We manage our foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of our Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and trying to minimize these exposures
through natural hedges, wherever possible.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of
December 31, 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As of December 31, 2024, capital commitment of the
Group was RMB398.6 million (as of December 31, 2023:
RMB580.0 million), which was in line with our progress in the
construction and completion of our production bases.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 7,025
employees. The total employee remuneration expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2024, including share-based
compensation expenses, were RMB1,448.0 million, as
compared to RMB1,168.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Our employees’ remuneration mainly comprises salaries,
bonuses and social security contributions. We participate
in various employee social security plans that are organized
by applicable local municipal and provincial governments,
including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury,
maternity, and unemployment benefit plans.

We provide our employees with opportunities to develop
their knowledge and skills. We have an effective training
system, including orientation and continuous on-the-job
training, to improve the knowledge and skill levels of our
workforce. Our orientation for newly joined employees covers
corporate culture and policies, as well as an introduction to
our business and daily operational processes. Our periodic
on-the-job training encompasses subjects ranging from day-
to-day operations to general management skills, consistently
enhancing employees’ overall professional capabilities.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Hongchao (3R4L#8), aged 48, is our founder and
chairman of the Board. Mr. Zhang Hongchao is in charge of
our strategies and corporate culture.

Mr. Zhang Hongchao has over 28 years of experience in
the freshly-made drinks industry. Mr. Zhang Hongchao
commenced operations of our business in 1997 and leads
our development from a small store named Coldsnap Shaved
lce “FE i K” to a leading freshly-made drinks company.
Benefiting from his adherence to our core values and long-
term development strategies, Mr. Zhang Hongchao led our
achievement of a series of significant milestones, including
the establishment of our brand name “Z = k¥ ” (Mi Xue Bing
Cheng), the introduction of various signature products such
as Fresh Ice Cream and Freshly-Squeezed Lemonade, as
well as building our end-to-end supply chain. Along with our
development, Mr. Zhang Hongchao has been promoting and
shaping our core values of sincere people, genuine hearts and
authentic products, as well as a corporate culture rooted in
authenticity.

Mr. Zhang Hongchao graduated from Henan University of
Economics and Law (formerly known as Henan Economics
and Finance College) in June 1998, majoring in secretarial
affairs. He is currently pursuing an executive master’s degree
in business administration at Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business.
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Mr. Zhang Hongfu (3R4LF), aged 40, is our co-founder and
chief executive officer. Mr. Zhang Hongfu is in charge of our
overall operations and management as well as leading our
senior management team.

Mr. Zhang Hongfu has over 18 years of experience in the
freshly-made drinks industry. Mr. Zhang Hongfu joined us
in 2007. Leveraging his successful first-hand experience
in operating stores, Mr. Zhang Hongfu formulated a
standardized system for store operations and management,
which we subsequently rolled out through a franchise model.
Along with his long-term leadership and promotion of our
business development, Mr. Zhang Hongfu continued to build
and solidify our core capabilities covering brand building,
store operations, marketing and product management.

Mr. Zhang Hongfu is currently pursuing a doctor’s degree in
business administration at Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business.

Ms. Cai Weimiao (%£f&#%), aged 36, is our executive Director
and head of front-end supply chain.

Ms. Cai is a homegrown key executive of our Group. Ms.
Cai joined us in 2008 as a store employee and she was
subsequently promoted to a store manager, during which
she accumulated extensive experience in the front lines of
our stores through participation in the management and
operations of several stores. In 2012, Ms. Cai started to be in
charge of the procurement of store supplies and equipment.
From 2021 to 2023, Ms. Cai was our head of logistics, playing
a key role in the development and enhancement of our supply
chain. Since 2023, Ms. Cai, as our head of front-end supply
chain, is primarily responsible for the procurement of store
supplies and equipment, logistics, front-end application R&D
and the quality control of the above matters.
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Ms. Zhao Hongguo (#AL%R), aged 36, is our executive
Director and head of back-end supply chain.

Ms. Zhao is a homegrown key executive of our Group. Ms.
Zhao joined us in 2013 as a store employee and she was
subsequently promoted to a store manager, during which
she accumulated extensive experience in the front lines of
our operations. She participated in the operations of various
departments in our Group successively, including finance,
administration, procurement and production. Since 2015, Ms.
Zhao has been in charge of the procurement of raw materials,
production, back-end fundamental R&D and the quality
control of the above matters, and playing a key role in the
planning and construction of our production bases and the
establishment and improvement of our production policies.

In 2023, Ms. Zhao began serving as a representative of the
14th National People’s Congress.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin ((B£1#f), aged 57, is our
independent non-executive Director. She is primarily
responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment
to the Board.

With an education background in law, Ms. Poon has around
30 years of post-qualification experience both in-house and
in private practice. In 2014, she was named by Asian Legal
Business as Hong Kong’s In-House Lawyer of the Year. In
2016, she was named by Asian Legal Business as Hong
Kong’s Woman Lawyer of the Year. In 2017, Ms. Poon and
her legal and compliance team in The Hong Kong Jockey
Club (“HKJC”) was named as In-House Team of the Year
(under 50 Lawyers) in Euromoney Legal Media Group’s Asian
Women in Business Law Awards.
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From 2015 to 2020, Ms. Poon was the executive director of
legal and compliance of HKJC. She was a member of HKJC’s
board of management as well as the company secretary of
HKJC. From 1998 to 2015, Ms. Poon held various senior
positions within the PCCW Group including group general
counsel and company secretary. She has a wealth of
experience in the telecommunications, media and information
technology industries, as well as in the areas of mergers
and acquisitions, corporate finance, corporate governance
and advising on matters relating to the Listing Rules and
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Before joining PCCW
Group, Ms. Poon worked in various law firms from 1992 to
1998, including Lovells and Baker & McKenzie.

Ms. Poon has been an independent non-executive director
of Meitu, Inc. (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1357) since June 2024. Ms. Poon
was an independent non-executive director of Asia Satellite
Telecommunications Holdings Limited (“AsiaSat”, a company
then listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code:
1135) from March 2018 to September 2019, and then a non-
executive director of AsiaSat, a position she held since its
privatization in September 2019 until March 2025. She was
also an independent non-executive director of Forgame
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0484) from September 2013 to May
2018, and an independent non-executive director of AZ
Electronic Materials S.A. (a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange, stock ticker: AZEM) from 2012 to 2014.

Ms. Poon obtained a doctor of law degree from Cornell
University in May 1992 and a bachelor’s degree in commerce
from the University of Toronto in November 1989.
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Mr. Chu Gary Hsi (4 H), aged 65, is our independent non-
executive Director. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Chu has more than 30 years of experience with pivotal
roles played in the consumer sector, especially in the food
and beverage and catering industries, as well as in the finance
and investment areas. During his almost 20 years services
at General Mills, Inc. (“General Mills”, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, symbol: GIS), Mr. Chu led
General Mills’ business in Greater China region managing a
wide spectrum of brands including Haagen-Dazs, Wanchai
Ferry, V.PEARL, Yoplait, Green Giant, Bugles and Trix. In
particular, Mr. Chu led the development of global brands like
Haagen-Dazs in China, where he subsequently transformed
Héagen-Dazs into diversified and omni-channel operations
with an extensive store network. Additionally, Mr. Chu
promoted the development of local brands such as Wanchai
Ferry. With such rich experience in successfully incubating,
operating and managing consumer brands in China, Mr.
Chu has expertise and insights not only in store operations,
channel management, brand building and marketing, but also
in supply chain management including the development of
centralized factories. Mr. Chu also has in-depth knowledge
and extensive experience in mergers and acquisitions and

investments.

Mr. Chu joined Tiantu Capital in July 2017 and is currently a
managing partner of Tiantu Capital where he is in charge of
the mergers, acquisitions and buyout department. Mr. Chu
worked in General Mills from 1998 to 2017, joining as its first
managing director responsible for launching its business in
China, with his last position as General Mills’ global senior
vice president and its president of Greater China. Before
joining General Mills, Mr. Chu worked in Bristol Myers Squibb
in China since 1993, having assumed various positions
including head of finance and business development with his
last position as senior director of sales in China.
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Mr. Chu obtained an executive master’s degree in business
administration from Peking University in July 2010 and a
bachelor’s degree in finance from Rutgers University in
the United States in May 1985. Mr. Chu was qualified as a
certified public accountant in the State of Maryland in the
United States in June 1990.

Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande (EE &), aged 59, is our
independent non-executive Director. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment
to the Board.

Mr. Huang has over 25 years of experience through various
positions in a wide range of industries including finance,
technology and internet. He is currently a senior advisor of
JD.com, Inc. (a company listed on the Nasdaq, symbol: JD,
and secondary listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
stock code: 9618) and was its chief financial officer from
September 2013 until his retirement in September 2020,
including the last three months as an executive coach to his

successor.

Prior to joining JD.com, Inc., Mr. Huang had served as the
chief financial officer of Vancelnfo Technologies Inc. and
its successor company, Pactera Technology International
Ltd., from July 2006 to September 2013. He was also the
co-president of Vancelnfo Technologies Inc. from 2011 to
2012, and chief operating officer of Vancelnfo Technologies
Inc. from 2008 to 2010. Mr. Huang served as chief financial
officer at two China-based companies in the technology and
internet sectors between August 2004 and March 2006. He
was an investment banker at Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
in New York from August 2002 to July 2004. He held various
positions including audit manager at KPMG LLP from January
1997 to August 2000.
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Mr. Huang has been an independent non-executive director
of Kuaishou Technology (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1024) since February 2021, an
independent non-executive director of Tuya Inc. (a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, symbol: TUYA, and
dual primary listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2391) since July 2022 and an independent director of
Yatsen Holding Limited (a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, symbol: YSG) since November 2020. Mr.
Huang was a director of Bitauto Holdings Limited (a company
then listed on the New York Stock Exchange and privatized in
November 2020) from November 2010 to August 2020.

Mr. Huang is currently a Foundation Fellow at St Antony’s
College of the University of Oxford where he was an
Academic Visitor focusing on geoeconomics from October
2021 to September 2022. He obtained a master’s degree
in business administration from the J.L. Kellogg School of
Management at Northwestern University in the United States
in June 2002 and a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Bernard M. Baruch College of The City University of New
York in the United States in February 1997. Mr. Huang was
qualified as a certified public accountant in the State of New
York in the United States in October 1999.

SUPERVISORS

Ms. Cui Haijing (£#&), aged 38, is the chairlady of our
Supervisory Committee. Ms. Cui is primarily responsible
for monitoring the performance of the Directors and senior
management. Ms. Cui is also serving as a supervisor in
certain subsidiaries of our Group.

Ms. Cui worked as an accounting specialist in Zhengzhou
Dannisi Baihuo Co., Ltd. (BN e EEAHR QA and
Henan Province Fenghe Trading Co., Ltd. (A& EME 55
[R 2 a]) consecutively from 2007 to 2009. Ms. Cui joined us in
2009. Ms. Cui held various key positions and is currently one
of the department managers of our finance center.
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Ms. Cui obtained an associate degree in computerized
accounting from Henan University of Animal Husbandry and
Economy (formerly known as Henan Higher Commercial
College) in July 2007.

Ms. Yu Min (F#)), aged 36, is our employee representative
Supervisor. Ms. Yu is primarily responsible for monitoring the
performance of the Directors and senior management.Ms. Yu
is also serving as a supervisor in certain subsidiaries of our
Group.

Ms. Yu served as a remuneration and performance specialist
at Beijing Xiaoyu International Investment Co., Ltd. (dt5 /)
BB E AR A7) from 2012 to 2014. Ms. Yu joined us in
2014 and has been primarily responsible for our remuneration
and performance review, employment relationship and
recruitment management matters. She is currently one of the
department managers of our human resources center.

Ms. Yu obtained an associate degree in human resources
management from Haikou University of Economics in June
2012.

Mr. Sun Jiantao (Z#7%), aged 38, is our Supervisor. Mr. Sun
is primarily responsible for monitoring the performance of the
Directors and senior management.

Mr. Sun joined us in 2010 and had been responsible for
matters including business development and human
resources. From 2016 to 2023, Mr. Sun held various key
positions in our Group, responsible for business expansion
of Mixue in Southwest China and Southeast Asia as well as
Lucky Cup. Currently, Mr. Sun is our head of Mixue in the
Americas.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Zhang Hongfu (k4L ), see
“— Executive Directors” in this section.

For the biographical details of Ms. Cai Weimiao (£%/377%), see “~
Executive Directors” in this section.

For the biographical details of Ms. Zhao Hongguo (fE4L3),
see “— Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Shi Peng (B¥), aged 37, is the global chief operating
officer of Mixue.

Mr. Shi is a homegrown key executive of our Group. Mr.
Shi joined us in 2003, when he started to obtain first-
hand experience in our store operations, from which he
accumulated extensive experience in management of stores
and franchisees with long-term practice in the front lines.
From 2013 to 2018, Mr. Shi was in charge of operations and
management of stores and franchisees, and played an active
and significant role in the standardization of our operations
and management system. Since 2018, Mr. Shi has been
holding various key management positions in our Group and
is currently the global chief operating officer of Mixue.

Mr. Shi has been serving as the vice president of Henan Chain
Store & Franchise Association since August 2022.

Mr. Zhang Yuan (3&k¥), aged 34, is our chief financial officer.
Mr. Zhang Yuan is primarily responsible for the overall
financial management and capital operations of our Group.
Mr. Zhang Yuan also serves as the chairman of Snow King
Foundation.

Mr. Zhang Yuan joined our Group in February 2023, prior to
which he worked at various financial institutions, including
BofA Securities and Hillhouse Investment.

Mr. Zhang Yuan obtained a master’s degree in finance from
Tsinghua University in July 2015 and an honorary bachelor’s
degree in economics from the University of International
Business and Economics in June 2013.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group
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PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

We are a leading freshly-made drinks company. We are
committed to providing value-for-money products to
consumers, including freshly-made fruit drinks, tea drinks,
ice cream and coffee, typically priced around one U.S. dollar
(approximately RMBB6) per item. We have two major brands —
freshly-made tea drinks brand Mixue and freshly-made coffee
brand Lucky Cup.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal business from the Listing Date to the date
of this report. For details of the principal business of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries, please refer to Note 1 to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024 are set out in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Board is not aware of any Shareholders who have waived
or agreed to waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued shares during the year ended December
31, 2024 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.



f#E
$%IEA@32024¢12H31 Bt FEMOREE
BEFBHANGEEREHEK -

Al o IR 4
@%52024¢12ﬂ 31 EI

ABRE - AR
1,739.4A 8T °

RPBEQFDERR
DIKEEEERARE

MBEHE
HEX 72202553 A3 HNBEAR P L1 » REEER
BENEMBFERENFE  BE  BENMER

BE (kA EECMBHEN P HHREK) N
AIEFSH -

HZE2024F12A31H » AEBEWEIMETE
IRIT R EAIEFR -

ESE S

NEBAREZE2024F12 A1 B ILEER Y
REEHHSEN G AP EHRRME14 -

EFERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of
distributable reserves of the Company, calculated in
accordance with the PRC Company Law and the Articles of
Association, amounted to RMB1,739.4 million.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on March 3,
2025. A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial information and financial statements, is
set out on page 5 of this report.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out
in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules requires there to be an open
market in the securities for which listing is sought and a
sufficient public float of an issuer’s listed securities to be
maintained. This will normally mean that at least 25% of the
issuer’s total number of issued share capital must at all times
be held by the public.

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance
with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to reduce the minimum
public float of the Company to the higher of (a) 10.00% of
the total issued share capital of the Company, and (b) such
percentage of H Shares to be held by the public immediately
after completion of the Global Offering, as increased by the H
Shares to be issued upon any exercise of the Over-allotment
Option, subject to the following:

() the Company will make appropriate disclosure of the
lower percentage of the public float in the Prospectus;

(i)  the Company will announce the percentage of H Shares
held by the public immediately after the completion of
the Global Offering (before any exercise of the Over-
allotment Option) and upon any exercise of the Over-
allotment Option such that the public will be informed of
the minimum public float requirement applicable to the
Company;

(i)  the Company will confirm the sufficiency of its public
float in successive annual reports after the Listing;
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(iv) the Company will ensure an open market in the H
Shares, and the number of H Shares to be held by the
public and their distribution would enable the market to
operate properly with a lower percentage;

(v) the Company will implement appropriate measures
and mechanisms to ensure continual maintenance
of a 10.00% public float of H Shares (or such higher
percentage upon the completion of any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option); and

(vi) in the event that the public float percentage falls below
the minimum percentage prescribed by the Stock
Exchange, the Directors will take appropriate steps
to ensure the minimum percentage of public float
prescribed by the Stock Exchange is complied with.

Based on the information that is publicly available to
the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors as
of the Latest Practicable Date prior to the issue of this
report, the Company is not aware of any deviation from
the above confirmation, and the Company has maintained
the aforementioned minimum public float required by the
Stock Exchange since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the PRC requiring
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Annual Overview and Performance

Pursuant to the requirements of the Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), we are required to carry out an impartial review of
the Group’s business, including an analysis of the Group’s
financial performance and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, which are set out in
the sections headed “Business Review and Outlook” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report. These
discussions form part of this report. Events that have occurred
since the end of the year ended December 31, 2024 that have
had an impact on the Company are set out in the paragraph
headed “~ Events after the Reporting Period” in this section.
Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Group recognizes that its various stakeholders, including
employees, customers, suppliers and other business
partners, are key to its success. The Group strives to maintain
employment, cooperation and solid relationships with them in
order to achieve sustainable development.

The Group believes that attracting, recruiting and retaining
quality employees is of paramount importance. In order
to maintain the quality, knowledge and skill level of its
employees, the Group provides regular training to its
employees, including induction training for new hires,
technical training, professional and management training, as
well as health and safety training. The Group believes that
it maintains good relationships with its employees and has
not experienced any significant labor disputes or material
difficulties in recruiting employees for its business operations
during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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The Group understands that it is essential to maintain a
good relationship with its customers (primarily include the
franchisees who operate franchised stores pursuant to the
franchise agreements with us). The Group has established
procedures to handle customer complaints to ensure
that customer complaints are handled in a prompt and
timely manner. The Group is also committed to developing
good relationships with the suppliers (primarily include
the suppliers of raw materials to support our production,
such as food commodities, agricultural products and other
auxiliary materials) to ensure a stable supply of materials.
The Group strengthens its business cooperation relationship
with suppliers through continuous active and effective
communication with them to ensure quality and delivery.

Details of the Company’s key relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers and other persons who have
significant influence on the Company are set out in its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report published on
the same date as this report.

Social Responsibility, Environmental Policy and
Performance

In 2024, the Group was committed to fulfilling its social
responsibilities, improving employee welfare, promoting
development, protecting the environment, giving back to the
community and achieving sustainable growth.

A separate environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website concurrently with the publication of this
report.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

We may be involved in legal proceedings from time to time in
the ordinary course of business. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group, and did not have any material non-compliance
with such laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, neither the Group nor any
of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the
Company has been subject to investigation or administrative
penalty by the China Securities and Regulatory Commission,
banned from entering the market, recognized as an unsuitable
person, publicly reprimanded by the stock exchange, subject
to compulsory measures, referred to the judicial authorities
or held criminally liable, nor has it been involved in any other
litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding that would
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition or results of operations. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Directors were not aware of any
material litigation or claim that was pending or threatened
against the Group.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

Our operations involve a number of key risks and
uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. The
material risks and uncertainties we face are set out below:

° Our business relies on consumer demand for our
products, which is ever-evolving in nature and may
shift upon changes in consumer preferences and
perceptions, as well as consumers’ discretionary
spending power. Adverse changes in consumer demand
for our products will harm our franchisees’ and our
business.

° Our future growth depends on our ability to continuously
extend the footprint of our store network and
successfully manage the operational performance of our
expansive store network.

o We operate in a highly competitive market and
intensifying competition in China’s freshly-made drinks
market could materially and adversely impact our market
share and profitability if we fail to compete effectively.
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A recent slowdown in China’s freshly-made drinks
market amid intensifying competition may adversely
impact our business and results of operations.

The continued strength of our brands is critical to our
success. If our brand value diminishes, our results
of operations, financial performance and business
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

We primarily employ a franchise model to grow our
store network, under which substantially all of our stores
are operated by franchisees. Our results of operations
depend to a large extent on the performance of these
franchised stores, as well as our ability to maintain
existing franchisees and attract new franchisees.

We are subject to risks in relation to the cooperation
with third-party partners. We cooperate with various
third-party partners to promote our daily business
and store operations. For example, we cooperate with
third-party online platforms, including but not limited
to social platforms, to reach, acquire and interact with
consumers, and engage in innovative online marketing
and branding campaigns. Our cooperative relationships
with third-party partners may be disrupted or
discontinued which could have a material and adverse
impact on our results of operations and business
prospects.
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Our reputation, results of operations and financial
performance may be materially and adversely affected
if the quality and food safety of our products are
compromised.

Our operating history may not be indicative of our
results of operations, financial performance or business
prospects in the future. Our results of operations and
financial performance may be materially and adversely
affected by political events, war, terrorism, public health
issues, adverse weather conditions, natural disasters
and other catastrophes. We, our Directors, management,
employees, business partners, franchisees and their
employees may be involved in litigations, regulatory
investigations and proceedings, claims or allegations
such as those related to food safety, commercial
disputes, labor and employment matters or securities
issues, and we may not always be successful in our
defense against such claims or proceedings.

Our franchised stores purchase store supplies and
equipment from us. If we are not able to ensure the
sufficient, stable and timely supply of such store
supplies and equipment to support the franchised
stores’ operations, or if there is any disruption to
our supply chain, our business will be materially and
adversely affected.
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We face risks in relation to production capacity. Our
future success and growth potential are dependent on
our ability to successfully implement our production
capacity expansion plans and effectively manage our
production capacity.

If we are unable to manage and expand our logistics
system efficiently and effectively, our results of
operations and business prospects may be materially
and adversely affected.

If we are unable to constantly maintain our price
positioning, our results of operations, financial
performance and business prospects would be
materially and adversely affected.

If we are not able to adequately protect our intellectual
properties, or if we are not able to maintain the
popularity of our IPs, such as our iconic IP, Snow King,
our business will be materially and adversely affected.

Opening new stores in existing markets may not result
in the expected level of growth in our revenue and profit,
and our business, financial conditions and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We face the risk of price fluctuations in some of our raw
materials, which could materially and adversely affect
our results of operations and financial performance.

Failures, interruptions and other issues of our suppliers
and other business partners along our supply chain, or
of our cooperation with them, may negatively impact our
results of operations.
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Any interruption on our production or incidents related
to our production could materially and adversely affect
our business.

Any disruption to operations of our logistics system
could materially and adversely affect our business.

Any failure in our R&D may harm our results of
operations, financial performance and business
prospects.

Failure of inventory management may have a material
and adverse effect on our business.

If our existing or potential franchisees are not able to
obtain desirable store locations or secure renewal of
existing leases on commercially reasonable terms or at
all, our store expansion and operation may be materially
and adversely affected.

We are subject to risks related to our overseas
expansion, which may result in fluctuations of our
business and results of operations.

We may incur substantial expenses in connection with

our branding and marketing activities.

We may not be successful in expanding our membership
base and our ability to leverage our membership
programs may be limited.

We may evaluate and potentially explore new business
opportunities, enter into new markets, and consummate
strategic investments or acquisitions, which may turn
out to be unsuccessful and adversely affect our results
of operations and financial performance.

Our product sales and business operations are subject
to seasonal fluctuations.
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° lllegal actions, misconducts or other negative incidents
of our employees, franchisees and their employees,
suppliers, services providers, business partners, and
other third parties and/or stakeholders, or perception
that these may have occurred could materially and
adversely affect our reputation, results of operations,
financial performance and business prospects. Changes
in the labor market, rising labor costs or any potential
labor issues may have a material and adverse impact
on our results of operations, financial information and
business prospects.

° Changes in economic, regulatory, political and social
conditions could have a material and adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial performance
and business prospects. In particular, any significant
changes in food safety regulations and related policies
could affect our business.

o We and our stores require various approvals, licenses
and permits to operate our business and the loss or
failure to obtain or renew any or all of these approvals,
licenses and permits could materially and adversely
affect our results of operations and business prospects.

° We and our franchisees are subject to risks in relation to
leased properties.

o Our success depends on the continuing and
collaborative efforts of our senior management team
and experienced and capable personnel. If we fail to
hire, train, retain or motivate our staff or to optimize our
organizational structure, our business may be materially
and adversely affected.

° The trading price of our H Shares may be volatile, which
could result in substantial losses to our Shareholders.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors should

exercise their own judgment or consult an investment advisor
before making any investment in our H Shares.
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PROSPECTS

The sections headed “Business Review and Outlook” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report provide
an overview of the future development of the Company’s
business.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company’s H Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on March 3, 2025. The Company received
net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting commissions
and related costs and expenses) from the Global Offering
(including the full exercise of the Over-allotment Option) of
approximately HK$3,799 million and has not utilized any of
the proceeds as of the Latest Practicable Date. The Company
intends to apply such net proceeds in accordance with the
purposes as set out in the Prospectus. The details of intended
use of net proceeds from the Global Offering are set out as
follows:

ZYIA

hEERE 2RBEE  RBRAMSG
FRLRE PRSI SIEH
BHast RS FEEREE
Expected

Net proceeds timeline of full
fromthe  utilization of

Global the unutilized

Approximate
% of total net

EE ltem proceeds Offering™@ proceeds
(BEB%T)
(HK$ million)
RABRMRIREEEN Elevating the breadth and depth of 2028F Z Al
BENRE our end-to-end supply chain 66 2,507 By 2028
@  PEMEMER (@  Production capacity expansion in China 20284 7 Al
45 1,709 By 2028
b) #HEWRABRMETENY b)  Maintaining and improving the agility and efficiency of 2028 Z Bl
MEGREEE MR our logistics system in China 9 342 By 2028
© HEERMOEEMERBTS ()  Establishing our international supply chain platform to 20284 7 Hil
DA BN E R support the expansion of our overseas business 12 456 By 2028
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higEe 2HRBE  APAFE
FRAR FiSRE FIEM
BREDL FEOR  FHREXR
Expected
Net proceeds timeline of full
Approximate fromthe utilization of
% of total net Global the unutilized
ER ltem proceeds Offering®® proceeds
(BBBT)
(HKS million)
20285 Z 7l
RIERIPHERNEE Brand and IP building and marketing 12 456 By 2028
20285 2 7
(a) RHEFHEMMMIEIP (@  Further cultivation of our brand IP 7 266 By 2028
20285 Z 7l
(b) BAMEREMSHEE ()  Our omni-channel marketing efforts 5 190 By 2028
AR EERRBOE LA Advancing our digitalization and intelligization 2028 Z Al
BRELRED efforts across business processes 12 456 By 2028
EEESNEM—REERRE Working capital and other general 20284 7 Al
corporate purposes 10 380 By 2028
@t Total 100 3,799
Kiez Notes:

(1)  PEZE20214F ~ 20224 [22023F12 A31H 1+
FRERE A NEE2024F9 A30H I ALEA -
HARE201BETH EMEREAARRAFR
ABEEEMEmMKERINRG © BELLAQF
WA BB RIEFREL A3,821 A BB T
(BRIRABEITEBERRE) -

2 RAEFIEFEDIKARK0.92075TH1
BT (AERERTRANSEZER) B ARE
BERET - BIRTEMBTHXARBE S
BRI R EE RGBS -

ARG B R E R PR T A (I FS
HIE - R E R R B T E AR
%O

(1) During the financial years ended December 31, 2021, 2022
and 2023, and the nine months ended September 30, 2024,
the listing expenses of approximately RMB20.1 million has
been charged to the consolidated statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the Company, therefore
the actual net proceeds received by the Company was
approximately HK$3,821 million (taking into account the full
exercise of Over-allotment Option).

(2)  The net proceeds utilized have been converted from Renminbi
to Hong Kong dollars at the rate of RMB0.92075 to HK$1,
being the reference exchange rate adopted in the Prospectus.
No representation is made that any amounts in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi have been or could be converted at the
above rate.

The Company will use the proceeds for the purpose as
disclosed in the Prospectus and follow the expected
implementation timetable as disclosed in the Prospectus.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On March 3, 2025, the Company’s H Shares were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, where 17,059,900
H Shares were issued and subscribed at an offer price of
HK$202.50 per H Share by way of initial public offering to
Hong Kong and overseas investors. Gross proceeds from
these issues amounted to approximately HK$3,455 million.

On March 28, 2025, the Over-allotment Option described in
the Prospectus was fully exercised, in respect of an aggregate
of 2,558,900 H Shares, representing approximately 15%
of the total number of H Shares initially available under the
Global Offering before any exercise of the Over-allotment
Option. The 2,558,900 H Shares were issued and allotted
by the Company at HK$202.50 per H Share (exclusive of
brokerage of 1%, SFC transaction levy of 0.0027%, the Stock
Exchange trading fee of 0.00565% and AFRC transaction levy
of 0.00015%).

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any
material subsequent events from December 31, 2024 to the
Latest Practicable Date.

Status of the Potential Spin-off

As disclosed in the Prospectus, having considered, among
others, the size and rapid growth of the Company’s overseas
businesses and its clear delineation with the Company’s
business in mainland China in terms of geographical
locations and market focus, the Company wishes to retain
the possibility to spin off its overseas businesses within three
years after the Listing (the “Potential Spin-off”). As such,
the Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the three-
year restriction requirement under paragraph 3(b) of Practice
Note 15 in relation to the Potential Spin-off of the overseas
businesses of the Group. The Potential Spin-off will remain
subject to other requirements of Practice Note 15.
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As of the date of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company
does not have any detailed plan in relation to the Potential
Spin-off, including the timetable, the listing venue and the
entity to be spun off. The Company will comply with the
applicable rules and regulations, and announce the details of
the Potential Spin-off, if any, in accordance with the rules and
regulations, when they become available. Notwithstanding
the above, the Potential Spin-off remain highly uncertain and
could be subject to material changes in the future.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hongchao (5R4L i) (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhang Hongfu (3RALH)

Ms. Cai Weimiao (25/577%)

Ms. Zhao Hongguo (84T )

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin (&Z#7)

Mr. Chu Gary Hsi (<EZ)
Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande (25 1%)

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é



EFEEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BEE

RERRREEARE B HHESNT

EgFRL
Tzt
REBEE

RARERH > RAREE BENSRER
BENBEFBINENAREEF  BEFENS
MERE | & e

RABESAREESN EF  EENEFH
TTEAEARE EHRANE13.51B(1)ET AR
BHEMEEHER -

ESREERBEN

BEREENEERBEHNFE  FL2HEAR
EEEREAMEE N EEMNTwMER]

—E e

ARAYEREMNEERESR (HEBUES
HEEFNF D) RN RET LR EAA
R—FRARIEMBBNEMEE CEERE
BRON) B IRTS A 4 ©

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

SUPERVISORS

The Supervisors during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Ms. Cui Haijing (E£/&55%)
Ms. Yu Min (T &)
Mr. Sun Jiantao (%)

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management of the Company as at the date of
this report are set out in the section headed “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” of this report.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, there are no other
changes in the Directors, Supervisors and Chief Executive
Officer that are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

For details of the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service
contracts, please refer to the paragraph headed “Appointment
and Re-election of Directors” under the Corporate
Governance Report contained in this report.

The Company has not entered into, and does not propose to
enter into, any service contract with any of the Directors or
Supervisors in their respective capacities which cannot be
terminated by the employer within one year without payment
of any compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

We have received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
has duly reviewed the confirmation of independence of each
of the Directors. In our opinion, all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As the Company’s H Shares were listed on March 3, 2025,
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 352 of
the SFO were not applicable to the Directors, Supervisors
or chief executives of the Company during the period from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024.

As far as the Company is aware, as of the Latest Practicable
Date, the interests and/or short positions (if applicable) of
our Directors, Supervisors and the chief executive of our
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations of our
Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (a) to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
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Name

*LmRG

Unlisted Shares
REEETED

Mr. Zhang Hongchao®

RALALAN
Mr. Zhang Hongfu®

BERat
Ms. Cai Weimiao

Besnt
Mr. Sun Jiantao

Bl

Title

EERFUNES
Chairman of the Board
and executive Director

BITESRERUAE
Executive Director and
chief executive officer

HITESRABHERAEA
Executive Director and head
of frontend supply chain

ES

Supervisor

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to our

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code, were as follows:

Interests in our Company

5/ REtE

Capacity/Nature
of Interest

ERAEAA

Beneficial owner

R NER

Interest in controlled corporation
ERAEA

Beneficial owner
REEENER

Interest in controlled corporation
EREEA

Beneficial owner

EaBBA

Beneficial owner

RERGHED

Number
of Shares
interested®

100,098,196 (L)

971,093 (1)

100,098,196 ()

971,993 (1)

381,024 (1)

1,905,121 (1)

RELF
kLmks/
HER 8
BaRR
BAHR%)
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in Unlisted
Shares/H
Shares of the
Company® (%)

43.76

0.42

43.76

0.42

0.17

0.83

ERAR
RABERH
BaORR
BALO%)
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the

total share
capital of the
Company® (%)

26.37

0.26

26.37

0.26

0.10

0.50
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Name

HiR

H Shares
R LD

Mr. Zhang Hongchao®

RAATEY
Mr. Zhang Hongfu®

gERt

Ms. Cai Weimiao

FRERLE

Mr. Sun Jiantao

B

Title

BEERFNNES
Chairman of the Board
and executive Director

BIEZRERHTE
Executive Director and
chief executive officer

BITESRAREEEEEA
Executive Director and head
of frontend supply chain

%

Supervisor

5t/ BEtE

Capacity/Nature
of Interest

ERBEA

Beneficial owner

REEEN RS

Interest in controlled corporation
ERERA

Beneficial owner
RIBEEN RS

Interest in controlled corporation
ERAEAA

Beneficial owner

EREBA

Beneficial owner

EFERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

RELF
FLTRS/ (L
HR®H  RASEHH
BRI BARR
BALR%)  BALE%)

Approximate  Approximate

RERHBED

percentage of  percentage of
shareholding  shareholding

in Unlisted in the

Number Shares/H
of Shares ~ Shares ofthe  capital of the

total share

interested®  Company® (%) Company® (%)

53,899,028 (L) 35.72 14.20
647,994 (1) 043 0.7
53,809,028 (L) 35.72 14.20
647,994 () 043 0.7
254,016 (1) 047 007
1,270,080 (1) 084 033
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(L) - long position

This calculation is based on the total number of 228,735,742
issued Unlisted Shares and 150,883,058 H Shares of the
Company as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Qingchun Wuwei, one of our employee shareholding platforms
and a limited partnership established in the PRC, is managed
by its general partner, Mr. Zhang Hongchao. As such, Mr.
Zhang Hongchao is deemed to be interested in the 971,993
Unlisted Shares and 647,994 H Shares held by Qingchun
Wuwei under the SFO.

Shiyu Zuxia, one of our employee shareholding platforms and
a limited partnership established in the PRC, is managed by
its general partner, Mr. Zhang Hongfu. As such, Mr. Zhang
Hongfu, is deemed to be interested in the 971,993 Unlisted
Shares and 647,994 H Shares held by Shiyu Zuxia under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of our

Directors, as of the Latest Practicable Date, we were not

aware of any Director, Supervisor or chief executive of the

Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,

underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO) which (a) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b)

were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to

the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As the Company’s H Shares were listed on March 3, 2025,
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of
the SFO were not applicable to the substantial Shareholders
of the Company during the period from January 1, 2024 to
December 31, 2024.

To the best knowledge of our Directors, as of the Latest
Practicable Date, we were not aware of any person (other
than the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executive of our
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred therein.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, at no time
during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable
the Directors or Supervisors to acquire interests by means
of acquisition of Shares in or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to
subscribe for interests or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
interested in any business (other than being a Director of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries) which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related-party transactions during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, there was no related party
transaction or continuing related party transaction set out
in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements which
constitutes disclosable connected transaction or disclosable
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
In respect of the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions, the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules in force from
time to time.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, during the
Reporting Period, none of the Directors/Supervisors or entities
connected with the Directors/Supervisors had an interest,
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no contract of
significance (including for the provision of services) has been
entered into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries
during the year ended December 31, 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report with persons other
than the Directors or persons employed by the Company on a
full-time basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
the Company had appropriate liability insurance in place for
its Directors.

INFORMATION ON TAX RELIEF FOR H
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is not aware of any tax relief available to
Shareholders for holding its securities. Shareholders should
seek expert advice if they are unsure of the tax implications
of purchasing, holding, selling, dealing in the Shares, or
exercising any of the rights attached to them.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND REMUNERATION
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 7,025 employees
(as of December 31, 2023: 6,280 employees). For the year
ended December 31, 2024, the total staff costs of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1,448.0 million, including
wages, salaries, bonuses, pension costs, other social
security costs and other employee benefits. The Group has
optimized its incentive system and implemented a competitive
remuneration policy to cater to the business development
needs.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our Directors
and Supervisors received their remuneration in the form
of salaries, social security and other employee benefits,
contributions to employee pension plans, and discretionary
bonuses.

During the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the Directors, Supervisors or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, no Director or Supervisor waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments. Save as disclosed
in this report, there were no loans, quasi-loans and other
transactions in favor of the Directors, controlled corporations
of the Directors and connected entities at the end of or at any
time during the Reporting Period. There were no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts concerning the
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a Director or a Supervisor had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, at the end of or at any time
during Reporting Period.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and Supervisors
during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PENSION PLANS

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries
to a pension plan to fund the benefits. The Group’s only
obligation with respect to the pension plan is to make
specified contributions. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not use forfeited contributions to reduce the
current level of contributions. Details of the pension plan of
the Group are set out in Note 2.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EMPLOYEE SHAREHOLDING PLATFORMS

In recognition of the contributions of our employees and
to incentivize them to further promote our development,
Qingchun Wuwei and Shiyu Zuxia were established as our
employee shareholding platforms in the PRC in May 2020.
Our employee shareholding platforms do not constitute a
share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. As of
the Latest Practicable Date, all of the awards under the two
platforms have been granted and vested, and, as a result,
the grantees held the partnership interest of our employee
shareholding platforms. There are 26 and 28 limited partners
in Qingchun Wuwei and Shiyu Zuxia, respectively, as of the
Latest Practicable Date. Pursuant to the relevant partnership
agreements, the general partners are responsible for the
management and administration of Qingchun Wuwei and
Shiyu Zuxia. The limited partners are not allowed to transfer
their partnership interests to parties other than the existing
partners unless otherwise agreed.
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Mr. Zhang Hongchao has been the general partner of
Qingchun Wuwei and Mr. Zhang Hongfu has been the general
partner of Shiyu Zuxia since their establishment, respectively.
As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Zhang Hongchao is
interested in Qingchun Wuwei as to 36% and Mr. Zhang
Hongfu is interested in Shiyu Zuxia as to 15%. In addition, Ms.
Zhao Hongguo (84T 8), our executive Director and a member
of our senior management, Mr. Qiu Yong (Ef£8), a supervisor
of Daka International Food Co., Ltd. (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), and Ms. Jin Ruirui (Ei%¥), a
director of Snow King Smart Supply Chain (Sichuan) Co., Ltd.
and Snow King Smart Supply Chain (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.,
are interested in Qingchun Wuwei as limited partners as to 5%,
1.5%, 1.5%, respectively. Ms. Cui Haijing (/&%) and Ms.
Yu Min (F8), our Supervisors, are interested in Shiyu Zuxia
as limited partners as to 1% and 1%, respectively. Save as
disclosed above, there are no connected persons who are
limited partners of Qingchun Wuwei or Shiyu Zuxia.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the revenue of the
five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than
1% of the total revenue of the Group.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the purchase of the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than
15% of the total purchases of the Group.

To the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares (as
defined in the Listing Rules)) of the Company) has any interest
in any of the five largest suppliers or customers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares (as defined under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules) during the Reporting Period and up to
the Latest Practicable Date. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company did not hold any treasury shares (as defined under
the Listing Rules).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated money and
supplies totaling RMB14.1 million to external parties.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS UNDER
THE LISTING RULES

The Company did not have any other disclosure obligations
under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to the high standards of
corporate governance and has adopted the code provisions
set out in the CG Code. After the Listing and as of the date of
this report, the Company complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

In order to maintain the high standards of corporate
governance, the Board will review and monitor the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code on an ongoing basis.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 61 to 89 of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by Ernst &
Young.

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company
since the Listing Date.

By order of the Board

MIXUE Group

Mr. Zhang Hongfu

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, April 23, 2025
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EEgrt
Ms. Cui Haijing (££/88%)

FHat
Ms. Yu Min (T&)

BREELeE
Mr. Sun Jiantao (FZ&%)

Title

EEETR
Chairlady of the
Supervisory
Committee

BIRKRES

Employee
representative
Supervisor

s

Supervisor
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

COMPOSITION OF SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

As of December 31, 2024, the Supervisory Committee
consisted of three Supervisors, including one chairlady of
the Supervisory Committee, one employee representative
Supervisor and one Supervisor. The Supervisors serve a
three-year term, and can be re-elected upon expiration of
their term of office.

The composition of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company is as follows:

ERIERH HERRE

Date of appointment  Duties and responsibilities

202312 4181 BEEREENSAEEENERBER
December 18, 2023 Responsible for monitoring the

performance of the Directors and
senior management

2023412 A18H BEEREENSAEEENERBER
December 18, 2023 Responsible for monitoring the

performance of the Directors and
senior management

2023F12A18H BEEREERSATEENERER
December 18, 2023 Responsible for monitoring the

performance of the Directors and
senior management
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE IN 2024

In 2024, the Supervisory Committee performed its supervisory
duties with due diligence in the interests of the Shareholders
and employees of the Company, in accordance with the
powers and functions conferred by the laws of the PRC and
the rules and regulations of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee is of the view that the Board operated in a
standardized manner, made decisions according to law,
faithfully executed the resolutions of the general meetings,
and faithfully fulfilled its obligations of integrity. The Company
has established a relatively sound internal control system,
and there is no violation of laws, rules and regulations and
the Company’s rules and regulations by Directors and senior
management in the performance of their duties, or any
behavior that is detrimental to the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders.

In 2024, the Supervisory Committee supervised and inspected
the Company’s financial standing and the implementation
of the financial management system, and reviewed the
Company’s financial reports. The Supervisory Committee is of
the opinion that the Company is in a sound financial position
and standardized in financial operations, and that the financial
reports published by the Company reflect the Company’s
financial position and operating results in an objective, all-
round and fair manner.

2025 WORK PLAN OF SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In 2025, the Supervisory Committee will continue to fulfill
its supervisory duties, abide by the principle of integrity,
exercise effective supervision over the Company and its
Directors and senior management, pay close attention to the
Company’s operations and management and major initiatives,
and faithfully protect the interests of the Company and all
Shareholders.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Corporate
Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND VALUE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and improve its transparency
and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
of the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
as the basis for the corporate governance practices of the
Company.

As the Company’s shares were not listed on the Stock
Exchange as of December 31, 2024, the CG Code set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules were not applicable to the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2024 but has
applied to the Company since the Listing Date.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
all applicable code provisions under the CG Code during the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this report. The
Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG
Code.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors and Supervisors.

As the Company’s shares were not listed on the Stock
Exchange as of December 31, 2024, the relevant rules of the
Model Code, to which the Directors and Supervisors were
subject, were not applicable to the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2024.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
Supervisors, all the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code since the Listing
Date.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and
be collectively responsible for promoting the Company’s
success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business and regularly reviews the contribution
required from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company and whether the Director is spending sufficient time
performing them that are commensurate with their role and
the Board responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Hongchao (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhang Hongfu (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Cai Weimiao

Ms. Zhao Hongguo

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin

Mr. Chu Gary Hsi

Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande

Each of our Directors has confirmed that he/she obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules
as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to him/her as a director of a listed issuer and the
possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving
false information to the Stock Exchange on December 22 and
23, 2023, and he/she has confirmed he/she understood his/
her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report. Mr. Zhang Hongchao and
Mr. Zhang Hongfu are brothers, and Mr. Shi Peng is their
cousin. Save as disclosed above, there were no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships) among the Directors, Supervisors or
members of the senior management of the Company.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Board meetings should be held at least four times a year,
roughly once a quarter, involving active participation, either
in person or through electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors. Notices of not less than fourteen
days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for regular Board meetings.

For other Board meetings, reasonable notice has to be given
generally. For other committee meetings, a notice shall be
given as prescribed in the terms of reference prior to the
meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company
secretary of the Company with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.

As the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 3, 2025, the code provisions in relation to the
number of board meetings and board committees meetings
held during the Reporting Period set out in the CG Code
were not applicable to the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2024. During the period from the Listing Date
and up to the date of this report, the Board convened one
board meeting and did not hold any general meeting. The
attendance of the individual Directors at Board meeting of the
Company is set out below:

HERY BITEBRE
Number of attendance/
meeting(s) held
Exged

EEHE Name of Directors Board Meeting(s)
BITES Executive Directors

SRATRBSTAE Mr. Zhang Hongchao 1/1
SRALE ST Mr. Zhang Hongfu 11
g2EHLL Ms. Cai Weimiao 1/1
AR+ Ms. Zhao Hongguo 1/1
BIUKHITES Independent non-executive Directors

mEPT R Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin 1/1
KERAE Mr. Chu Gary Hsi 11
HEREA Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande 1/1
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are
in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board is responsible for and in possession of the
general powers for our business management and operation,
including determining our business strategies and investment
plans, implementing resolution(s) passed at the general
meeting, and exercising other powers, functions and duties
granted by the Articles of Association. The Board is also
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties
pursuant to the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations, including the Listing Rules. The Board had
granted the powers and duties in respect of the Group’s daily
management and operation to the senior management of the
Group, and the management assume responsibilities for the
operation of the Group to the Board.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
are held by Mr. Zhang Hongchao and Mr. Zhang Hongfu
respectively. The Chairman in charge of the strategies and
corporate culture of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer in
charge of the overall operations and management as well as
leading the senior management team of our Group.

Independent non-executive Directors

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, the Board at
all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing no less than one-third of the Board
with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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Board Independence Evaluation

The Board has implemented mechanism to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
The implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism
was reviewed on an annual basis. The Board considers
that such mechanism has been implemented properly and
effectively from the Listing Date to the date of this report. The
mechanism is summarized as below:

Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third
of its members being independent non-executive Directors
(or such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing
Rules from time to time), with at least one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Further, independent non-executive Directors will
be appointed to the Board committees as required under the
Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views are available.

Independent Assessment in Nomination Practices

The Company has nomination policy for election of Directors.
Such policy, devising the criteria and procedures of selection
and performance evaluation, provides guidance to the Board
on nomination and appointment of Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company. The
Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the nomination
policy with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-
executive Directors to ensure they can continually exercise
independent judgment. The Board believes that the defined
selection process is good for corporate governance in serving
the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board
level, enhancing Board effectiveness and diversity, and
ensuring independent views and input are available to the
Board.



EFERE

EX (BRBUFMTESR) REREFREH
SRBUBXREZUBDREFEITRE - BF
HAREFAE - WEBRRKEEFNEZEE
BHERRBEAZEERFENGEER » %F
BARNEFER T EEMIFETHREREE °
REH)  RPRLFFTREEANGNEEA
RAEZ AR  XHRLHFNEFTERARN
BEE  ITEANEEAR -

ExsnaEaNER

REARRNARER  EEXRRGES ?
£ EERERMUREZARE - RE=F -
EEHERR  TREREEEE-

At - T ESHE R EBNRSEL -
RABIRIBMEIERITEERL TER
fEEH ©

4
BHZ

B B ERSN - AR RIRERAT ARSI EME
& CEERERIN WIBERT —FARATA KR
MERAARE MR A A -

ESNREEXERE

EXRAETRETERIE(  LWARET
HEE REREHEFTENERRT AR AKX
FIRBIRBRAG 1L -

BRI EZANESEa REZERHIEER
EXEREEHAREI - ARREH RGN
EBREEFRENTR WHxRHSMEBELTH
AIRABREEAERE TESNEARER -

EREQIRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Decision Making

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors),
upon reasonable request, may seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense, to assist the performance
of their duties. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a
conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
would be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than
a written resolution. A Director who has a material interest in
a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote or be
counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the
same.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Directors shall be elected at Shareholders’ general meetings
with a term of office of three years from the date on which
they assume their office. Upon the expiration of the term of
office, Directors shall be eligible to offer themselves for re-
election.

Accordingly, the executive Directors had each enter into a
separate service contract and the Company had issued a
separate letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not sign any
relevant unexpired service contract which is not determinable
within a year without payment of any compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. During the year ended December 31,
2024 and prior to the Listing, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development by attending training
course or external seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the
Board.

The training received by the Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and up to date of this report is

summarized below:

Participated

in continuous

professional

Name of Director development™®

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Hongchao v
Mr. Zhang Hongfu v
Ms. Cai Weimiao v
Ms. Zhao Hongguo v
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin v
Mr. Chu Gary Hsi v
Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande v

Note:

(1)  Attended training/seminar/conference arranged by the
Company or other external parties or read relevant materials
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande, Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin and
Mr. Chu Gary Hsi. Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters of the Company.
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As the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 3, 2025, no meetings of the Audit Committee
were held during the year ended December 31, 2024. During
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report, the Audit Committee held one meeting to review and
discuss the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024, risk management and internal control
systems, re-appointment of external auditor, the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee and other relevant matters.
The attendance of members of the Audit Committee is set out
below:

Name of members of the Number of attendance/

Audit Committee meeting(s) held

Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande 11
Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin 11
Mr. Chu Gary Hsi 11

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chu Gary Hsi, Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande and
Mr. Zhang Hongfu. Mr. Chu Gary Hsi is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors, Supervisors and senior
management; reviewing the performance of Directors;
considering salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group; reviewing and approving
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of directors for misconduct and for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
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appropriate; reviewing and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

As the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 3, 2025, no meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held during the year ended December 31,
2024 and as at the date of this report.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, Supervisors
and five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in
Notes 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this report. The remuneration payable to members of senior
management by band for the year ended December 31, 2024
is set out below:

Remuneration (HK$) Number of Individuals

Nil to HK$5,000,000
Above HK$5,000,000

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs.
The remuneration packages of Executive Directors are also
determined with reference to the Company’s performance
and profitability, the prevailing market conditions and the
performance or contribution of each executive Director. The
remuneration for the executive Directors comprises basic
salary, pensions and discretionary bonus. The remuneration
policy for the independent non-executive Directors is to
ensure that the independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board
committees. The remuneration for the independent non-
executive Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities
by the Board.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely
Mr. Zhang Hongchao, Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin, Mr. Chu
Gary Hsi and Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande. Mr. Zhang Hongchao
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, reviewing
the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination
Policy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider
the candidate’s relevant criteria as set out in the Director
Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

As the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 3, 2025, no meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held during the year ended December 31, 2024 and as
at the date of this report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy
and stipulated the means to achieve Board diversity. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees enhanced diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
sustainable development and achieving its strategic goals.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, all appointments to
the Board are based on the principle of meritocracy, and the
benefits of diversity of Board members are fully taken into
consideration with appropriate conditions when considering
candidates. The Company will consider a number of aspects
when selecting the candidates to the Board, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision of the appointment will be
based on merit and the contribution which the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board Diversity Policy, setting and reviewing measurable
objectives to implement the policy and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.
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The current Board composition is analysed as follows based
on the measurable objectives:

Gender Age group
Male: 4 Directors 31-40: 3 Directors
Female: 3 Directors 41-50: 1 Director

51-60: 2 Directors
61-70: 1 Director

Position

Executive Directors: 4 Directors
Independent non-executive
Directors: 3 Directors

Business experience

Accounting and finance: 1 Director

Law: 1 Director

Experience relevant to the
Company’s business: 5 Directors

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consists of
three female and four male Directors. The Board is satisfied
with its gender diversity and will continue to maintain a
diverse Board. In the future, gender will continue to be fully
considered in the selection and development of nominees on
the basis of maintaining at least one female Board member.
The Nomination Committee will review at least on a yearly
basis the Board Diversity Policy and measurable objectives to
ensure the sustained function and effectiveness of the Board.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as of December 31, 2024:

X b

Female Male

42.86% (3) 57.14% (4)

Senior Management

0% (0)
26.73% (1,770)

100% (2)
73.27% (4,851)

As of December 31, 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 4,851
males to 1,770 female. The Board considers that the current
gender ratio reflects a gender balance in our employee
structure. Going forward, the Company will continue
to monitor and evaluate the diversity policy and adopt
measurable objectives from time to time to ensure continued
effectiveness and the Company’s diversity policy and the
gender balance in our employee structure.

Note:

(1) Due to the protection of employee privacy (including gender)
in some overseas countries and regions, the number disclosed
here represents the full-time employees employed by the
Group’s legal entities in China (including Hong Kong, Macao
and Taiwan).
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Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company is primarily
responsible for selection of candidates for directors, general
manager and other senior management of the Company, and
setting up criteria and procedures for selection and making
recommendation.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy
which sets out the selection criteria and nomination process
and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

The nomination process set out in the director nomination
policy is as follows:

Appointment of New Director

() the Nomination Committee shall communicate
actively with relevant departments of the Company
to understand the demand of the Company for new
Directors and senior management and shall produce
written materials;

(i) the Nomination Committee may seek extensively for
candidates of Directors and senior management in the
Company, its holding companies and job market;

(i) the Nomination Committee shall collect information on,
among others, occupation, educational background, job
titles, detailed working experience of and all part-time
jobs undertaken by the candidates and produce written
materials;

(iv) the Nomination Committee shall seek advice from
nominees and understand their expectation on their
nomination, and no nominee shall be deemed as
candidates for Directors and senior management
without their consent;
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(v) the Nomination Committee shall convene meetings
to review the qualification of shortlisted candidates
based on the requirements of Directors and senior
management;

(vi)  the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations
and submit relevant materials to the Board of Directors
regarding candidates for Directors and newly-appointed
senior management one to two months prior to election
of new Directors and appointment of new senior
management; and

(vii) the Nomination Committee shall conduct other follow-
up work pursuant to the decision of and feedback from
the Board of Directors.

Where appropriate, the Board should make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular
to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for determining the corporate
governance policy of the Company performing the functions
set out in code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code, the Company’s code of conduct applicable to
its employees and Directors, and disclosure in its Corporate
Governance Report during the Reporting Period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control mechanisms.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.
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The Company has developed an Information Disclosure
Management System to ensure that all material undisclosed
information is disclosed to the market through designated
channels in a timely manner through standardized procedures.
Under the system, the Company is required to disclose to
the public any inside information as soon as reasonably
practicable after it becomes aware of it or is likely to create
a false market. From the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Company has disclosed information
in strict compliance with the requirements of the laws and
regulations including the Listing Rules without any false
statements, misleading statements or material omissions,
to ensure investors will be able to receive the disclosed
information fairly, timely and effectively.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control
assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact
the business of the Group and various aspects, including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied
with by each division/department.

The management has reported to the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Internal
Audit Department examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provided its
findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit
Committee.
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The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well
as the management report and the internal audit findings,
conducted an annual review of the risk management and
internal control systems, including the financial, operational
and compliance controls, for the year ended December
31, 2024, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications,
experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy and
system for employees of the Company and those who
deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

The Company has also put in place the Anti-Corruption
Policy to safeguard against corruption and bribery within the
Company. The Company has an internal reporting channel
that is open and available for employees of the Company to
report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can
also make anonymous reports to the internal anti-corruption
department, which is responsible for investigating the
reported incidents and taking appropriate measures. During
the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held anti-
corruption training and briefings to all employees and carried
out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a
culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption
training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of anti-
corruption and anti-bribery.
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EEHPBBRRPVET DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EERREAEESH NI KEEBRMSZIE TSR  The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
BTSRRI © the financial statements with the support of the accounting
and finance team.

EECKBRBR ST EIEESEMABEEE,  The Directors have prepared the financial statements in
BREEREGTIEHRE W —EHEBFEMAN  accordance with the International Financial Reporting
JEFRBEEMETEER (ISR EBIM A « 2 Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
B R EAEETRRIN) o Board. Appropriate accounting policies have also been used
and applied consistently except the adoption of revised
standards, amendments to standards and interpretation.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é



ERELIHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EETAEEAREHARNREENFELER
ERENENEEABENERNEHXBERE B
MEMEBEANTEEYE ARABNTBEHRET
RRBCEAEMGR  EERRERBRKE
T AT HRE T AREEEE2024F12 A31
HIEFEMBMBAR RRMRESTE - AT
WEOHMPEERME P FTEERE TS R
ERER o

AR BSNER X BREM B 70 EL A T R s B AR
BIREN AR E B ZBENRE -

% S 6 5 A
HE2024F12 A31BILFE - AR RGEL

AR TS AN I AT AR TS [ SR A2 BB 2 A5 0 B A5 Y
FENEZI T

ilE 3

B R ERT A R ERT RIS
8 B RME RS
FEEE IR

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern/
The financial statements of the Company are prepared on a
going concern basis, the Directors are of the view that they
give a true and fair view of the financial position, performance
and cash flow of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2024, and the disclosure of other financial information and
report therein complies with relevant legal requirements.

A statement from the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is
set forth in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor
of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out
below:

M

EReRE

Remuneration

Type of services paid/payable
ARBTT

RMB’000

Audit services relating to annual audit 3,158
Audit services relating to listing 14,340
Non-audit services 995
Total 18,493
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chen Yixin and Ms. Tang King Yin are the joint company
secretaries of the Company. With effect from December 27,
2023, Ms. Tang King Yin has been appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Tang is a senior
manager of Tricor Services Limited, a member of Vistra
Group, an external service provider. Ms. Tang’s major contact
person in the Company is Mr. Chen.

The Company was not listed on the Stock Exchange for
the year ended December 31, 2024. The joint company
secretaries of the Company will receive no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training annually pursuant to the
requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors may have access to the advice and services of
the joint company secretaries on corporate governance and
routine Board matters.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

In accordance with article 50 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding
10% or above shares of the Company shall have the right
to request the board of directors in writing to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and add proposals to the
meeting agenda. The board of directors shall, in accordance
with the laws, administrative regulations, the securities
regulatory rules of the place where the shares of the Company
are listed and the provisions of the Articles of Association,
give a written reply on whether to convene the extraordinary
general meeting or not within 10 days after receipt of the
written proposal. If the board of directors agrees to convene
the extraordinary general meeting, a notice of such meeting
shall be issued within five days after the resolution of the
board of directors is passed. Any change to the original
request made in the notice shall be subject to the consent of
the relevant Shareholders. If the board of directors does not
agree to convene an extraordinary general meeting or does
not reply within 10 days upon receipt of the proposal, the
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Shareholders individually or jointly holding 10% or more of the
shares of the Company shall have the right to propose to the
supervisory committee to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and add proposals to the meeting agenda, and such
proposal shall be made in writing. If the supervisory committee
agrees to convene the extraordinary general meeting, it shall
issue a notice of general meeting within 5 days upon receipt
of the request. Any changes to the original request in the
notice shall be approved by the relevant Shareholders. If the
supervisory committee fails to issue the notice of the general
meeting within the prescribed period, it shall be deemed that
the supervisory committee will not convene and preside over
the general meeting, and Shareholders individually or jointly
holding 10% or more of the shares of the Company for 90
days or more consecutively may summon and preside over
the meeting by themselves.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to article 55 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Shareholders individually or jointly holding 1% or
more of the Company’s shares may submit ad hoc proposals
in writing to the convener 10 days before a general meeting
is convened. The ad hoc proposal shall contain a clear
topic for discussion and specific matters for resolution. The
convener shall, within 2 days upon receipt of the proposal,
issue a supplementary notice of the general meeting by way
of announcement which shall contain the contents of the
provisional proposal, and submit the ad hoc proposal to the
general meeting for deliberation, unless the ad hoc proposal
is in violation of any law, administrative regulation or the
provisions of the Articles of Association or fails to fall into the
scope of functions of the general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders

may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 1912, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the joint company secretaries)
Email: ir@mxbc.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company is endeavours to maintain
an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings.
At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company adopts a shareholders’ communication policy
to guarantee continuous and effective communication with
the Shareholders.

Up-to-date information on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for
public access on the website of the Company at www.mxbc.
com.

The Company’s management regularly reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy. Having considered the implementation
and outcome of the shareholder communication channels of
the Group and the practices of other listed companies, the
Company confirmed its effectiveness during the period from
the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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Amendments to Constitutional Documents

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated April 2, 2025, in relation to the amendments of the
constitutional documents of the Company. Details of the
amendments of the constitutional documents of the Company
are set out in the announcement dated April 2, 2025. An up
to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association
is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board may declare
dividends in the future after taking into account the results
of operations, financial conditions, cash requirements and
availability of the Company, and other factors as it may deem
relevant at such time. The Company has adopted a dividend
policy on payment of dividends. The Company do not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the conditions and
factors as set out in the dividend policy of the Company,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial
year. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of
dividends will be subject to the constitutional documents,
applicable PRC laws and approval by the Shareholders.
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To the shareholders of MIXUE Group
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
MIXUE Group (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 99 to 231, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.



HREER

RREFASFHEERERMANERHE - RAY
AR EMBERRONBEITRAEENER ° %
SERERMEABRGAMBREILLAE
REETRE AT EHREFRERES
MER - B TISFEEME @ HWAELERT
FARMERTTRIBZFENT N ©

BRMERITASRSE [ B A BAHFE B R
REAFRENEE] —SHMANEE  BHEEZ
EEHEARMET - Bt - HPIWBRTRIEHR
Ti2F - EERYBRMEREYBHRRTNE
RERRAABRH TG - ROVBARERF (8
ERREETNIEEMATHNREF) ER > B
PILIBE M AR A M TS R PR RAVERT B R IRH
B o

BB B AR
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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RRETEE

Key audit matter

B i FIAR 176 35 B A TR

Key audit matters (Continued)

BN FrOAEEFERETSR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition of sales of goods and equipment

EEETENEEMMNREEEES RIRMENERM
HHERT - HE2024F12 A31HILEE - E5H

HREmAREHERAARK24,2098 8T °
The Group is principally engaged in the operation
of sales of goods and equipment as well as
provision of franchise and related services. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue of RMB24,209 million from the
sales of goods and equipment.

EREREBTRENORY - i AR m MR A
HIREEBREFE  EREAMREHEERA - &
SERREEEFEAR AR TRERRENE

Revenue from the sales of goods and equipment is
recognised when the Group satisfies performance
obligation by transferring the control of promised
goods and equipment to customers in the amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods
and equipment.

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

BIEHEE MR i E WA RN EEF B
Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition of sales
of goods and equipment included:

AHE ROAAE
HERMITRER °
Evaluating and testing the design and operating effectiveness
of Group’s internal controls, including IT system on the
revenue recognition.

SEABEH R RETHERIE - BREKA

ERRMEEEBRENTRUREIHES
2 B AR W A TERIBUR

Based on our understanding of the sales process and review
of sales contracts on a sample basis, we reviewed and
evaluated the revenue recognition policy.

MR HEES - R

BIERTUATEE SR :
We also performed the following substantive procedures:

s  RHEBELRGMUBRL
BEMEIRNE

° reconciling the data between operational and financial
systems, and analysing transactional revenue data for
trends and reasonableness;

MEE - IR S WAZIER
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We identified revenue recognition of sales of
goods and equipment as a key audit matter
because there was a huge volume of revenue
transactions generated from a large number of
customers, mainly franchisee customers.

B AR A E WA BREEN ST REER
A B mRME2.3 - MBAFBRERGS W
FRAMIFES ©

The accounting policy relating to revenue
recognition of sales of goods and equipment
is disclosed in note 2.3 to the consolidated
financial statements and the details of revenue are
disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BB B AR
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Key audit matters (Continued)

HNEMHNBSRETHERS  URENRMEEEF
T

° performing, on a sampling basis, background checks
on the franchisees, and verifying the existence of the
franchisees’ stores;

o HBMERERAERNXY (MINHEETE XEBMR
1TE ) BITHABL IR Fr R ARETAIE

o performing revenue cut-off procedures as well as tests
of details by checking, on a sampling basis, the original
supporting documents, such as sale orders, delivery
notes and bank slips;

e  BOHRENMEMBRHESRENBAETOIN &

° performing analytical procedures on the Group’s
revenue by distribution channel and by product
category; and

o  HEMBmEABEBNTEME

° evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in the
financial statements.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements (Continueq)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (Continueq)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (Continueq)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (Continueq)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yin Guowei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Research and development expenses

Finance costs

(Impairment losses)/reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Share of (losses)/profits of an associate

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT

Basic (RMB)

Diluted (RMB)

11

13

13

HZE2024F12 A1 HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BZ12R31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARETR AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
24,828,874 20,302,465
(16,768,667) (14,303,498)
8,060,207 5,998,967
219,547 247,632
(1,599,474) (1,318,588)
(755,115) (610,622)
(104,870) (85,000
(6,367) (14,697
(329) 1,638
- (65,524)
(3,016) 196
5,810,583 4,154,002
(1,356,380) (967,397)
4,454,203 3,186,605
4,436,504 3,137,341
17,699 49,264
4,454,203 3,186,605
12.32 8.71
12.32 8.71
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE2024%F12 A31HILEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that may

be reclassified to profit or

loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Net other comprehensive income to
be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods

Other comprehensive income that will
not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Changes in fair value of equity
investments designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Net other comprehensive income
not to be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
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BE12A31ALEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
4,454,203 3,186,605
(3,237) 131
(3,237) 131
(870) (940)
(870) (940)
(4,107) (809)
4,450,096 3,185,796
4,432,740 3,136,269
17,356 49,527
4,450,096 3,185,796
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Other intangible assets
Investment in an associate
Equity investment designated
at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Deferred tax assets
Time deposits and restricted cash
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Time deposits and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Contract liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

B aE

Notes

14
15(a)

16

17

18
30
24
19

20
21

22

23
24
24

25
26
27

29
15(b)

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

M12A31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR® T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
5,317,826 3,390,053
382,189 426,986
41,964 25,624
= 3,016
6,590 10,460
76,005 111,889
1,966,926 300,000
95,771 1,177,353
7,887,271 5,445,381
2,215,352 2,231,714
25,624 28,473
512,505 404,428
3,491,643 746,046
1,315,804 115,620
4,335,123 5,621,904
11,896,051 9,148,185
1,767,263 1,316,780
2,043,625 1,571,615
359,636 259,271
= 259,748
52,004 72,065
294,310 254,834
4,516,838 3,734,313
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

M12A31H
As at 31 December
Mk 2024 20234
Notes 2024 2023
AR%T T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 7,379,213 5,413,872
HEERRBAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,266,484 10,859,253
kRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEE Wz Deferred income 28 134,090 122,407
HEBE Lease liabilities 15(b) 40,548 54,360
HibfEIs B EETEA  Other payables and accruals 26 20,712 60,408
FIEFIARE Deferred tax liabilities 30 2,492 1,638
EHEE Contract liabilities 27 7,822 24,975
FREEEHEE Total non-current liabilities 205,664 263,788
BEZRE NET ASSETS 15,060,820 10,595,465
= EQUITY
BAREEAELER Equity attributable to owners
of the parent
&N Share capital 31 360,000 360,000
R Reserves 32 14,595,519 10,146,993
14,955,519 10,506,993
FIEEAR Non-controlling interests 105,301 88,472
R Total equity 15,060,820 10,595,465
Zhang Hongchao Zhang Hongfu
RALE RALFS
Director Director
EZE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE2024F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE2024%F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax:
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of losses/(profits) of
an associate
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Interest income
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items
of property, plant and equipment
Gain on early termination of leases
Investment income on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other
intangible assets
Impairment of inventories
Impairment losses/(reversal
of impairment losses)
on financial assets
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses
Foreign exchange differences, net

B aE

Notes

14
15(a)

14

HE2024F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®FT T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
5,810,583 4,154,002
6,367 14,697
3,016 (196)

= (1,272)
(107,015) (53,801)
5,836 (198)
(3,424) (168)
(45,170) (53,333)
314,887 160,504
99,178 103,472
5,290 3,800
36,995 32,189
329 (1,638)

- 65,524

15,786 16,427
(5,620) (31,963)
6,137,038 4,408,046
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RREAaRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE2024%F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FEEM Increase in inventories

Z SRl ER, Decrease/(increase) in trade
(3&0) receivables

JENFRIE - EitbfEUFRIE &2 Decrease in prepayments, other
H A& ER receivables and other assets

ZREIRLH LD (L)  Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash
HibIEREBEERD Decrease/(increase) in other

(3&n) non-current assets
B 5 FE - SRIBIEG AN Increase in trade payables
H b e FRIE R

FERTE RN Increase in other payables and accruals
BHEFEEM Increase in contract liabilities
IR ERIE N Increase in deferred income
KEEHELENR S Cash generated from operations
ERATEH Income tax paid
EHFE Interest received

LETEENFTSIRE M2 F 5 Net cash flows generated

from operating activities

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

B aE

Notes

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(20,633) (725,819)
5,064 (8,955)
2,314 50,804
16,414 (14,633)
3,257 (11,986)
452,782 466,094
522,647 343,320
83,212 79,559
11,683 64,383
7,213,778 4,650,813
(1,280,166) (910,742)
75,096 53,801
6,008,708 3,793,872




REEBFARERE

BEWE BEX
&fEAEHE
HEME - BE R
RIBIA B F1SE0R
BEHEMELEE
BELBMNEREEE
— T {ERE
BEUAREEFERR

BEH A IBROEREE

HENAABEFELR
T ABER
TREEMBSHA

TR IB AR REIH A
BB =8 A /0 E SR

REHBEBE=MEAN
RITIF B HATIFE0R

HERER/NAAEE
FAAERHEH AR
EHEBERBERE
PSR

=B X R TS 0R

RELBARE

s B0 o
M= FHR

HEBeaNER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Purchases of other intangible assets
Purchases of and prepayments for
right-of-use assets — land use rights
Purchases of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Placement of time deposits
with original maturity of more than
three months when acquired
Proceeds from maturity of
bank deposits with original maturity
of more than three months
Proceeds from disposal of
equity investments designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

HE2024F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARMT T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(1,438,614) (1,685,292)
58,195 4,753
(9,858) (5,433)
(1,340) 1)
(3,213,000) (5,161,000)
512,573 6,333,963
(2,940,000) (310,056)
10,056 =
3,000 =

= (2,238)
(7,018,988) (825,344)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE2024%F12 A31HILEE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

METBARERE

RIT R EAME R IA

AT BIRTT RE MR
ZEFE
HEMZNEAS
HEMRHF L
FREZR RS
2[R 535 & B B

BEAIARE

ﬁ#?h%‘hﬁA
L] ds)

BT

IR ERTE

B5
5

pa)

BMERBTAN
BRenEFHE

fiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%f’%ﬂ’]
BD),/ R

FREMREFEY

[ E R B

ERBAER
REEEY

BEKBROGERAA |

CASH FLOWS USED IN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans and

other borrowings

Repayment of bank loans and

other borrowings

Interest paid for interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings
Principal portion of lease payments
Interest portion of lease payments
Placement of restricted cash
Maturity of restricted cash

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling

equity holders

Payment of issue expense
Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests

Net cash flows used in
financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE

IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange

differences, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR

2024 FERSE

B aE

Notes

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETTT AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
4,536 259,537
(264,073) (140,000)
(2,451) (7,118)
(83,490) (99,875)
(4,127) (7,456)
(7,035) (89,035)
85,374 63,250
— (100,000)
(527) (645)
(5,645) (3,218)

= 13,241
(277,438) (111,319)
(1,287,718) 2,857,209
5,621,904 2,764,138
937 557
4,335,123 5,621,904
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FaE
Notes
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 24
Less: Time deposits and
restricted cash 24

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AS STATED IN THE STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

HE2024F12 A31HILEE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®FT T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
7,617,853 6,037,524
(3,282,730) (415,620)
4,335,123 5,621,904
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

1.

AR REEER

BEABBOHBERAA (TARE]) R
2008F 4 A30REHRZEARLRME ([
Bl MK ZABREERFR - ARF]
MM ERARPEBINTEKEIE=
IRE - MEEERBEILSHmEH 16004

=
ZX o

RER » REBRFATEERK

s BEmNREBHE

o RHUINBAERI RS

ERERR - NATIRERAF MR
BRI BEZSKBBMNBERAT - & AR
AR B M AL R B AL e
HERHEARNESR

ARBNEEZMBRRFBEHINOT

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

MIXUE Group (the “Company”) was registered in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as a limited
liability company on 30 April 2008. The registered office
of the Company is located at Room 16004, Hanhaibeijin
Business Center, East Wenhua Road, North Third Ring
South, Jinshui District, Zhengzhou, China.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

o Sales of goods and equipment

° Provision of franchise and related services

In the opinion management, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is MIXUE
Group, which is incorporated and registered in the PRC.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

Name*

MR, Bt R
AEI R &2
Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and

place of operation

ENESRRARAR FE R E A
201059 A28 H
Zhengzhou Baodao PRC/Mainland China
Technology Co., Ltd. 28 September 2010
(‘BMNESRRBR AR
AR R mARAR HE B
20133 H14H
Daka International Food PRC/Mainland China
Co., Ltd. (“XWEIE 14 March 2013

RmARIRF")

BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

as follows:
BRITEE AR FELL
BRRAK EEEok TEER
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registered share equity attributable  Principal
capital to the Company activities
HE i
Direct  Indirect
AK#100,000,000T  100% - HEEmRRHESR
BT AR
RMB100,000,000 100% - Sales of products
and provision
of IT services
AR #200,000,0007C  100% - HE
RMB200,000,000 100% - Production



e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REARKEEEH(E)

ERMBARNESR (&)

HEMRYL, BREER
2w AfUREREE
Place and date of
incorporation/
registration and
Name* place of operation

SIEZHERE(BER)ARAA FE HEAM

20186 H22H
Snow King Smart Supply PRC/Mainland China
Chain (Guangdong) 22 June 2018
Co., Ltd. (SEEE
HIER(BR)ARAR)
FEREHERAR AR BB A
20187 H5H
Shangdao Smart Supply PRC/Mainland China
Chain Co., Ltd. (“ - & 5 July 2018

BRUERARAT)

EXREMEE (W) BRAR TE/ FEAM

2020910 A23H
Snow King Smart Supply PRC/Mainland China
Chain (Sichuan) Co., Ltd. 23 October 2020

(‘STEBHmEREI)
BRAF])

g %%ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬂh BUERRUMBEREE

R ARA MR R - PEEMIRN
RXEHIIAARRERERKEAL B
X REEEREMR

ERINRESRRAEIBREFAEELRE
AR E B EFEEARE D AR A]HE
DA BEERAR - RHUHEGHBARMNF
BETREBENITR

AK#50,000,0007T 100% =

RMB50,000,000 100% =

AR #100,000,0007T 100% =

RMB100,000,000 100% S

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

BITER AT LG
HEHEZIS BB TEER
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registered share equity attributable  Principal
capital to the Company activities
HiE i
Direct  Indirect
AR ¥5,000,0007T 100% - HEEm
RMBS5,000,000 100% - Sales of products

HEEmM

Sales of products

HEEmM

Sales of products

These entities are limited liability enterprises established
under PRC law.

The English names of the companies registered
in the PRC represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company in directly translating
the Chinese names of these companies as no English
names have been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

e

21

BREEE

ZEPERRIBRBEEEM B RE
SRR BRER SRR
BEg ((HFETHEANESS )t
R PR R MR A R B &t
HREFSHENBR ST ER R
FEREREeRBURBERR
{EROIE B ERIRTE

AEBE E2021F1 A1 8 (BB
BREGTERRE A ) BIRFH
MF202441 A1 BB S EHHIR
ERBIET A B B A RS & 5T 2R
ERINARREE MR

e MR RRIEE L RAE G R
B EARREEFELREZS
ABEHEREERBEARRE
B8 AEES AR MEm S
KB I E AR S BEFT BRI -
ZEFBHRRAARE ([ AB%])
25 BRAEEHPIN - ESED

BEEHEOTH -

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

21

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards, which comprise all standards and
interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations
approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

All IFRS Accounting Standards effective for the
accounting period commencing from 1 January
2024, together with the relevant transitional
provisions, have been early adopted by the Group
from 1 January 2021 (the date of transition to IFRS
Accounting Standards).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income
which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BRBE#E)

21
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é



REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

EHBER(E)
21 BEEE(E)
AEREE(E)

B /28 2 A O B 75 ¥k B AR 2 B A AE
RS HEARAEBM S5
BRmE - B ARNEEBAE
BEGEGIEE AEGA AR A
BEGa N\ REEZBESRR L
EARIL -

AfE @ BB m DR R
g% BmMHEMEmEANSEA
RED e RENANEE AR
BANFFIER L - A RAKE
KERARIRRZEBNEEARF
RMEERAE  #m WA HAX
FHRERENGRE AR 22K -

i 5= B R AF AR R A _E Pt = TR
HETERTFN-HAXZHREE
AREEeEHNTHESEHAY
REHROESE - RHERFHE
BREEDNED (WEKEEHIE)
RABRESS IR 5
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continueq)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to
the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BRBE#E)

21

2.2

BREEE(E)
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continueq)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2. BERBEE)

22 CHEMEERERNERABRE

iR (&)
BIFR R 5 RE ERIF 185
IFRS 18
BB A T R 5 E R 1955
IFRS 19
B B 754

AR FE I &
BURR B #5522 RSB 797 (83T 40)
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

BB B 75 i 5 HERISE 955 e

BB B R e 5 R RISE 7 5% (25T A)
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
B A B 75 e 5 E RN S8 10558 [

BIFR & 512155285k (18R] AN)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

B RHERIE 2158 (1BFTA)
Amendments to IAS 21
ERRE SRS s ERNFELuE — F111#

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

1 R2025F1 A1 Bk &R FE M
H 3

2 20261 A1 B3 EFRGBEFE R
ER

3 R2027FE1 A1 EFEHEE R
4 HARS A 7

4  HAREEEGIEMAE - HER RN

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

g% a0kl e Gl g
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Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 77

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these new and
amended standards upon initial application. IFRS
18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required
to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires
disclosure of management-defined performance
measures in a note and introduces new
requirements for aggregation and disaggregation
of financial information. The new requirements
are expected to impact the Group’s presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures
of the Group’s financial performance. So far,
the Group considers that the new and revised
standards are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of an associate
is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investment in the associate,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associate
is included as part of the Group’s investment in an
associate.
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2. EIBER(E) 2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23 EAGTBEK(£) 2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain of wealthy
management products and equity investments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2. EIBER(E) 2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23 EAGTBEK(£) 2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill
is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
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A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é



e MBERRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

2. BEBEE)

2.3 ERSHBEK(E)

7 (&)
(ivy BRE=FEEMNEBZNT
BE—EENRZE=H
F-{ LR UNCIIE

(vi) = (a)TEFTa A T HIsk
R

(vii) (a)()BFTILA T¥HZEE
FEAE KR %&E%E%
(HEHR ) FEE
BEKE

3

(vii) ZEBSIHMBSENT
C124=UNGI RPN SE 7N
EEMNHARIREEEE
BAERRT ©

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is an associate of a third
entity and the other entity is a joint
venture of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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23 EAGTBEK(£) 2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.38% t0 4.75%
Leasehold improvements 20.00% to 50.00%
Machinery 9.50% to 19.00%
Motor vehicles 23.75%

Furniture and fixtures 19.00% to 31.67%
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents
buildings and machinery under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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23 EAGTBEK(£) 2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Software

Software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 10 years based
on the Group’s past experiences and different
purposes on usages of the software and the
authorised period for such uses.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
When no internally-generated intangible asset
can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Warehouses and office 1.5t0 5.0 years

premises

Land use rights 50.0 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Leases (Continueq)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of offices premises (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and
fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continueqd)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through OCI are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continueq)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest
(“EIR”) method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost
includes trade receivables, and financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets.

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
(Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are
never recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in
the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably,
except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).
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Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings and
payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings and payables)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings and payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the
weighted average cost basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present
obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as
a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
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Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group has
established business presence.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of each
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement
of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. The Group has concluded
that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue
arrangements because it typically controls the
goods or services before transferring them to the
customer.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group primarily generates its revenue from

sales of goods and equipment and provision

of franchise and related service to franchisees.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition

policies are as follows:

(@)

(b)

Sales of goods and equipment

Revenue from the sale of goods and
equipment is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods and equipment.

Provision of franchise and related services

Under franchise agreements, the Group
provides franchising, management and
training services to its franchisees during the
franchise period and franchisees pay fixed
franchising, management and training fees
generally on an annual basis.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)

Provision of franchise and related services
(Continued)

During the franchise period, franchisees
are granted with franchise rights including
trademarks, business model and other
management resources. As a result,
franchise fee, which is considered as a
consideration for the right to access the
Group’s intellectual property, is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the franchise
period if all of the following criteria are met:

o the contract requires, or the franchisee
reasonably expects, that the Group will
undertake activities that significantly
affect the intellectual property to which
the franchisee has rights;

° the rights granted by the franchise
agreement directly expose the
franchisee to any positive or negative
effects of the Group’s activities; and

° those activities do not result in the
transfer of a good or a service to the
franchisee as those activities occur.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(o) Provision of franchise and related services
(Continued)

The Group also provides management and
training services to the franchisees during the
franchise period through which franchisees
enjoy benefits such as business operation
support and training for themselves and
their employees. Revenue from the provision
of management and training services is
recognised over the franchise period on a
straight-line basis because the franchisee
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment
is received from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods, equipment or services
to the customer).
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Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award
arrangement for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees
render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised in employee benefit expense, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statements of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability when they

are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to
the extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into
RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgement, apart from those involving estimations,
which has the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses and deductible temporary difference
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in
note 30 to the financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
gooawill)

The Group assessed whether there were any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at least on an annual basis. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, other intangible assets, investment
in an associate and other non-current assets are set
out in notes 14, 15, 16, 17 and 19 to the financial
statements.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses as a whole by the
most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
The Group’s chief operating decision maker is the chief
executive officer of the Group who reviews the Group’s
consolidated results of operations for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Accordingly, no reportable
segment information is presented.

Geographical information

() Revenue from external customers

The majority of the Group’s revenue and operating
profits are derived from mainland China.

Information about major customers
No sales to a single customer accounted for 10% or

more of the Group’s revenue for each of the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

ON 5. REVENUE
WA INEEHEE M mMRE - ARRE Revenue represents income from the sales of goods
HANEE M R R UL A o WA D740 and equipment to franchisees, and the provision of
™~ franchise and related services. An analysis of revenue is
as follows:
() DEUAEHR () Disaggregated revenue information
BZ12A31BLELEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEEEHHIBA Revenue from contracts
with customers
B an FIR EHE Sales of goods and equipment
EmiHE Sales of goods 23,452,457 19,160,210
BEHE Sales of equipment 756,372 736,537
TR FIAE RS IR 75 Franchise and related services™ 620,045 405,718
REFFESHWBIA Total revenue from contracts
with customers 24,828,874 20,302,465
WA T R B Timing of revenue recognition
AR —RREEN S MR Goods and services transferred at
a point in time 24,253,615 19,927,974
PR 5 B By ] Services transferred over time 575,259 374,491
REFFEHWHBIA Total revenue from contracts
with customers 24,828,874 20,302,465
* DNERFNAERE AR TS & THIRIE & 491565 e The franchise and related services fees are fixed
ET - BEAEEE - with no variable considerations in accordance with

the terms of the contracts.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

5. WA (E) 5. REVENUE (Continued)
i)y 2EBRAERE) () Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)
TRITRE A S AR A The following table shows the amounts of revenue
R ZERFEATAREHIVHNELD recognised in the current reporting period that
BE YR BTHBENNENE were included in the contract liabilities at the
ERRER beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:
BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB Sales of goods and equipment 25,711 74,436
0B FNAE RS AR & Franchise and related services 233,560 123,869
259,271 198,305
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5 WA (E)

(ii)
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FARRTS B BIRFE #AK -

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

5.  REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sales of goods and equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied when
customers take possession of and accept the
deliveries in stores or appointed locations. For
the majority of the sales transactions, customers
make advance payments before the goods and
equipment and services are delivered to them.

Franchise and related services

Almost all performance obligations are satisfied
over time when services are rendered. Generally,
franchise and related services contracts are for
periods ranging from three or four years. Advances
are required for the franchise and related services
on an annual basis.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

5. WA (E) 5. REVENUE (Continued)
(i) BHEEE) (i) Performance obligations (Continued)
JIEE FIEE AR % (48) Franchise and related services (Continued)
M12A318 - DEREHRT (RETT The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
HEDAREIT) BHEENRZER remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
SR or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

BE12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEHRERARANSE Amounts expected to be
recognised as revenue:
1FR Within one year 359,636 259,271
1661% After one year 7,822 24,975
367,458 284,246
PHREHRTRERHNETHREIRS The majority of the amounts of transaction prices
BEReRBEHER —FAER B allocated to the remaining performance obligations
A o NE BTSSR S A) R S E(E o are expected to be recognised as revenue within

one year. The Group does not have variable
consideration which is constrained.
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

Ha A R USR58 6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

BZE12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ISR Government grants 32,784 115,821
B A Interest income 107,015 53,801
NARBEGA=EAHE Investment income on financial assets
FABENSREER at fair value through profit or loss:
TE W
— B E®m - Wealth management products 45,170 53,333
HEME - BERZHBIEE (Loss)/gain on disposal of items of
B (E518), W F 5 property, plant and equipment, net (5,836) 198
HNEE 2= REF R Foreign exchange differences, net 5,620 31,963
B Donations (14,108) (41,152)
Hth Others 48,902 33,668
219,547 247,632
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

7. BAIFE 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
AEBMOFAIFB LB (GTA) K The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
TREEEH (crediting):

HZE12A31ALEE

Year ended 31 December

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AR¥TTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEFEKA Cost of inventories sold* 15,558,470 13,502,499
EHER Transportation expenses 778,570 624,565
W - WEKEETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 314,887 160,504
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 99,178 103,472
H A & Amortisation of other intangible assets 5,290 3,800
B ImMEx (BIEMT9FTE,  Employee benefit expenses (including
MESE ZRTBRAEBR directors’, chief executive’s and
EEEMHEN) ¢ supervisors’ remuneration as set
out in note 9):
IERF® Wages and salaries 1,209,429 952,416
DR EEENR DA Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses 15,786 16,427
RIRBEEIHT - RN & Pension scheme contributions,

H b 187 social welfare and other welfare 222,780 199,403
EXERBE Professional service fees 55,792 80,552
FERE Impairment of inventories 36,995 32,189
TARFRIA - EAbEWGRIA R Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of

HihEERE,ORERD) prepayments, other receivables and

T other assets, net 160 (4,986)
E S WG IBRIE TR Impairment of trade receivables, net 169 3,348
MEHHEEEMNAX Expense relating to short-term leases 16,475 12,921
FHEA Listing expense 59,069 10,900
A GIEA] Auditor’s remuneration 3,158 =
@ AR B ERERANSETBIEY * The amount of cost of inventories sold as stated above

¥ mERRENE -  FHELSEN excludes the costs included in the depreciation of
. 2YEEE BTENEY  SHE property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-

use assets, impairment of inventories, employee benefit
expenses, short-term lease expenses and transportation
expenses.

ERXEHERHKA -
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

B 3% B A 8. FINANCE COSTS
BIERADHTIAT - An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
HZ12A31BILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITIEFRF B Interest on bank borrowings 2,240 7,241
HEAERNE Interest on lease liabilities 4,127 7,456
6,367 14,697
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

9. EE BETHA

RIEETRA - FB R RMEDISFE383(1)
e ROFER AR (KEEEMS
B ROIE _BEENFEES -
KREEITHRABHMEIINT

@~ (b)-

R EEZE 19 37 9.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

BE $

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

HE12A31ALEE

Year ended 31 December

2024 20234

2024 2023

AR%T T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

we Fees 1,200 200

EMEE Other emoluments:

e EMEREMRET Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 11,171 9,317

IETEAL Discretionary bonuses 39,519 11,289
LA E RO A Equity-settled share-based

payment expenses 958 2,480

RIREETEIHR Pension scheme contributions 294 229

51,942 23,315

53,142 23,515
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

BEE B THAEREESNHMN(Z) 9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) BIFHITESE (@ Independent non-executive directors
AEBEINFEIIERITEENHE The fees paid to independent non-executive
ST directors during the year were as follows:

BE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 £ 20234

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

%A (B Mr. Li Kai (note i) - 100
E et (BT Ms. Huang Yanmin (note i) - 100
KRB (M&E) Mr. Chu Gary Hsi (note i) 400 =
BEE5AE (M Mr. Huang Sidney Xuande (note ii) 400 =
EZ P+ (MR Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin (note ii) 400 -
1,200 200
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

9. EE RSTRAEBRESHHM (&)

(b) BETHAR  HTESKES

RETHARRUTES

FABEE
RIBHEE
Spa (st
BRI (W)

EE:

et
EEELL ()
FeEns ()

Chief executive and
executive directors:

Mr. Zhang Hongchao

Mr. Zhang Hongfu

Ms. Cai Weimiao (note il

Ms. Zhao Hongguo (note ii

Supervisors:

Ms. Yu Min

Ms. Cui Haijing (note i
Mr. Sun Jiantao (note ii

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(o) Chief executive, executive directors and

supervisors
BE04F12A3 BLEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

#g ke HURESEH
e RHRENER A PR REXAEX @t

Salaries, Equity-settled

allowances Pension  share-based

and benefits  Discretionary scheme payment
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 3,082 10,000 46 - 13,128
- 2,095 10,000 50 - 12,145
- 1,113 6,500 43 - 7,656
- 2,182 6,500 46 684 9412
- 410 769 34 137 1,350
- 444 750 34 137 1,365
- 1,845 5,000 4 - 6,886
- 1,171 39,519 294 958 51,942
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EE BSTBAEBRESHNHH(Z)

b) BETHRAER HTESERES

(%)

BETHABRYTES : Chief executive and executive directors:

RIgRE
RIBrs
BHuL (M)
Szt (i)
BRI (W)

BEE.

L% (HH)
Fomr
Sgt (i)
ESLL (i)
Fesnk ()

Mr. Zhang Hongchao

Mr. Zhang Hongfu

Ms. Luo Jing (note i)

Ms. Cai Weimiao (note il
Ms. Zhao Hongguo (note ii)

Supervisors:

Mr. Xi Yanhe (note i

Ms. Yu Min

Ms. Cai Weimiao (note iif
Ms. Cui Haijing (note i
Mr. Sun Jiantao (note i

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
(o) Chief executive, executive directors and
supervisors (Continueq)
HENRF12AMALEE
Year ended 31 December 2023
ge- Bike  IREEEY
e ERRENEN MiETEA B ROXARX et
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Pension  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary scheme payment
Fees inkind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AREfRT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 2,109 4,100 39 - 6,248
- 2,052 4,000 38 1,963 8,063
- 2,164 289 40 - 2493
- 51 n 2 - 124
- 53 160 1 18 232
- 1,036 289 32 393 1,750
- 390 3% 3 102 921
- 1,385 1,929 1Y) - 3,356
- 16 19 1 4 40
- 61 36 1 - 98
- 9317 11,289 229 2,480 23315
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

9. EE RSTRAEBRESHHM (&)

b) BETHRAR BITESKES
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12 A18 H B
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Wt MARZLE - 557
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12 18 HERT -

(i) ZEPLZLN2023F12H18
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BE > Mat ABATFESBHREAT
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FA - BEEEFRRKSTHRAER
HHRABREERFHFMOZEE
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

Chief executive, executive directors and
supervisors (Continued)

(i) Mr. Li Kai, Ms. Huang Yanmin, Ms. Luo Jing
and Mr. Xi Yanhe resigned on 18 December
2023.

(i)  Mr. Chu Gary Hsi, Mr. Huang Sidney
Xuande, Ms. Poon Philana Wai Yin, Ms.
Zhao Hongguo, Ms. Cui Haijing and Mr. Sun
Jiantao were appointed on 18 December
2023.

(iliy Ms. Cai Weimiao was re-designated as an
executive director from a supervisor on 18
December 2023.

The fair value of the share award arrangement,
which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above chief executive’s,
executive directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration
disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year.
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

IEBREHFMET 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FRN - AEBRAEESRTMNATEELS The five individuals with the highest emoluments in
BE(20235F : 28BESF) - HFHBFBESE the Group during the year include 4 directors (2023: 2
R EXHIEE - A - 82T 14 (20234 - directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in
3B ) HEEFME L (WIHFARTEEH & note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
BITHRAR) FBEFIBRT - of the remaining 1 (2023: 3) highest paid employee who
is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
are as follows:
BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 2023
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e 2 REBYEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,827 4,666
EIBIEAT Discretionary bonuses 8,000 11,269
ARG #EEE MR () (S F 2 Equity-settled share based payment expenses - 492
BRIREFT B Pension scheme contributions 34 113
9,861 16,540
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

10. EEEBEFMET (&) 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
BN A THENIFES RIEFSITH The numbers of non-director and non-chief executive
AEMERHFME TASMT - highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following bands are as follows:

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 20234

2024 2023

3,500,001 7T%4,000,000/47T  HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 1
7,000,001/ 7C27,500,000587C  HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 = 1
7,500,001;% 758,000,000/  HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 = 1
10,500,001 £ % 11,000,000 7T HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 1 =
1 3
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FRrig®
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2024F12 A31H
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INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

PRC corporate income tax

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% unless subject to tax exemption set out below.

Certain subsidiaries that are engaged in businesses in
the “Encouraged Industries in the Western Region” and
eligible for the preferential EIT rate of 15%.

Certain subsidiaries that are domiciled and operate in
Hainan Free Trade Port which meet the criteria of having
more than 60% of the revenue generated from their core
businesses are eligible for the preferential EIT rate of
15%.

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in agricultural product
pre-treatment and eligible for relevant tax exemptions.

Hong Kong profit tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of
this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

1. FBH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (Continued)
Hity Others
REMBIRGFMAZOHB A REZER Subsidiaries incorporated in other countries are subject
HEXEBEANEEMEREEN o &8 to the respective applicable corporate income tax rates
£2024F K2023F12 A31HIEFE » B of the countries where they are resident. Domestic
EREATRBRNEETEMSHER2% - statutory corporate income tax rate in Indonesia was
HZE2024F K2023F12 A31HILFE - 22% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
EARBENERRMTEHEA20% ° 2023. The income tax rate applicable to subsidiaries in
Vietnam was 20% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARETR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIEAFTIS R Current income tax 1,319,642 1,036,131
EIEFTSHE (P13E30) Deferred income tax (note 30) 36,738 (68,734)
1,356,380 967,397
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

1. FiEH (&) 11. INCOME TAX (Continued)
Hith (48) Others (Continued)
BARRRERE DM B A RIERER A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
FRE RE B BRAAT M R E R ATA before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in
FE R IER X IR B AAETEAE which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries
BB IEF S SR - are domiciled and operate to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 F 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI Profit before tax 5,810,583 4,154,002
25% R BEPEMEHHRE Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% 1,452,646 1,038,501
TRBMENZE Effect of different tax rate (146,878) (72,345)
B SR RNEATI IR B Adjustments in respect of current
tax of previous years 6,721 3,168
AR Expenses not deductible for tax 22,507 8,371
I EE RRRE N Research and development
super deduction (7,288) (6,807)
RERFRIBEB AR LR Z% Tax losses and deductible temporary
differences not recognised 29,556 6,802
)R E A BT IEE 1R Tax losses utilised from
previous periods (884) (10,293)
iR Income tax expense 1,356,380 967,397
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RATE IR E Dividends declared by the Company - 100,000
P2023F2 A27H » AABIIREIEINEA On 27 February 2023, the Company’s shareholders
FREe FHAE2023FFEOAE B approved the 2023 profit distribution plan at an annual
- FR2023F 3 A A4 B EEIEZE AN general meeting, pursuant to which a dividend in an
7]360,000,000 XD FIRL B » BIRAIA aggregate amount of RMB100,000,000 approximately
E#0.287T ' & A K%100,000,0007T ° RMBO0.28 for each share of the Company’s 360,000,000
shares was paid in March 2023 to shareholders of the
Company.
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

13. BAEEBEREEEEAELAERKE 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

FRERBFNTHIRESARFE ARGSE The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
AWHE - LA KR 7360,000,000%% (2023 is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners
% : 360,000,000%) 2 & 1TE @R A0 of the parent, and the weighted average numbers of
BT HEEE - ordinary shares of 360,000,000 (2023: 360,000,000)

outstanding during the year.

HZ12A31BILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 F 2023%F
2024 2023
€ Earnings
BARIEE AEEFE Profit attributable to owners of the
(AR®TFTT) parent (RMB’000) 4,436,504 3,137,341
8wl Shares
AR EEREARZTN Weighted average number of ordinary shares
FAE BT R outstanding during the year used in the
hniEFEIaEs basic earnings per share calculation 360,000,000 360,000,000
BEREFRBF (AR¥R) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 12.32 8.71
NEBENEESEE A LEE Bt - #3E The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares and
2024F ;2023 F12 A31 B I FEHNERL accordingly, the diluted earnings per share for the years
HERTEGREARNER - ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were the same as

the basic earnings per share.
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

14. Y% - BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B RENRRE BE  EWIR ZARERKE fHRIR it
Leasehold Motor Fumiture ~ Construction

Buildings improvements  Machinery vehicles and fixtures in progress Total

AEBTR  ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARNTR ARETR ARETR

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

20245128318 31 December 2024
R04E1F1R : At 1 January 2024;
AR Cost 1,852,965 56,596 1,010,148 26,970 185,702 682,160 3,814,541
ZHTERRAE Accumulated depreciation
and impaiment @5331)  (@1811) (149882 (12413 (69727 (65524 (424.489)
FEFE Net carrying amount 1,767,634 14,985 860,266 14,557 115,975 616,636 3,390,083
202451 A1A - At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated
MR EEHERAE depreciation and impairment 1,767,634 14985 860,266 14,557 115975 616,636 3,390,053
AE Additions 66,705 21,058 107,026 3,782 37,559 2,089,211 2,325,341
FRsHRnE Depreciation provided during the year  (107,700) (35,293) (121,539) (2,706) (47,649) - (314,887)
i Disposals (1,030) (1616 (2855 (1,970) (1,140 (4723 (64031)
R Transfers 1,291,639 7,815 322,358 275 105585 (1,746,322) (18,650)
R2024E12A318 At 31 December 2024, net of
Th2anERAE accumulated depreciation and
impairment 3,017,248 6,949 1,144,559 13,938 210,330 924,802 5,317,556
R2024E12A31E At 31 December 2024:
A Cost 3,210,115 83,053 1,405,352 23,619 321,590 990,326 6,034,055
ZERRE Accumulated depreciation
and impaimment (192867 (6104 (260,799) (©681) (111260  (65524)  (716,229)
SEFE Net carrying amount 3,017,248 6,949 1,144,559 13,938 210,330 924,802 5,317,826
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

14. Y% BERRE (E) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
BF HEWERE K&  EHIE ZFARERRE RRIE o)
Leasehold Motor Fumiture ~ Construction
Buildings  improvements  Machinery vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total

ARRTT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARETR  ARRTR
RVB'000  RVBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00

2023%12A31H 31 December 2023
202351 A18 - At 1 January 2023;
B Cost 565,133 45101 460,387 21,561 96,790 711890 1,900,862
ZEREE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (41,269) (24,628) (88,237) (8,154) (37,488) - (199776)
EETE Nt carrying amount 523,864 20473 372,150 13,407 50,302 711890 1,701,086
R2023F1 A1 - At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated
MEZRERAE depreciation and impairment 523,864 20473 372,150 13,407 50,302 711800 1,701,086
yixc) Additions 41465 8814 70311 5195 1994 1778715 1924441
ERERAE Depreciation provided during the year ~ (44,062) (18,296) (61,646) (4.260) (32,240) - (160504
iHE& Disposals = (2418) (1,520) (17 (600) - (4,555)
EMBAR Disposal of a subsidiary - (491) (1,071) 0 (101) - (1,672)
g Transfers 1,246,367 6,903 482,042 24 69673 (1,808445) (3.219)
A Impairment - - - - - (65,524) (65,524)
R2023E12A318 At 31 December 2023, net of
MRETERAE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,767,634 14,985 860,266 14,557 115,975 616,636 3,390,053
7R2023%12 7318 : At 31 December 2023:
B Cost 1,852,965 56506 1,010,148 26970 185,702 682160 3814541
ZTERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (85,331) [611) (149882 (12.413) (69,727) (65504)  (424.488)
EETE Nt carrying amount 1,767,634 14,985 860,266 14,557 115,975 616,63 3,390,053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

15. #HE
AEBEREBEA

AEBREEEREANEERRAYE
IEE FIVHERY - AEEDEAEL —
YNEZRE L/(Hﬁlﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁwiﬁﬁif@ﬁ
ﬁﬁ% BRI ZE (5 AR R
TEH BT EE&#J#A%%E%H/HH
BNTF15FEESFENE o

(@) (FHESE

FREHAREENTEERESD

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for items of warehouses
and office premises used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the land use
rights with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land
use rights. Leases of warehouses and office premises
generally have lease terms between 1.5 years and 5
years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and

NN the movements during the year are as follows:
RERBAME TibfERE st
Warehouses
and office Land
premises use rights Total
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7202361 A1H As at 1 January 2023 151,109 294,451 445,560
NE Additions 94,100 41 94,141
HERBLR Disposal of a subsidiary (720) = (720)
HERZ Depreciation charge (98,268) (5,204) (103,472)
Bk Termination (8,523) - (8,523)
F2023F12 A31 B K As at 31 December 2023 and
2024F1H1H 1 January 2024 137,698 289,288 426,986
RE Additions 78,065 1,340 79,405
WEHRY Depreciation charge (93,110) (6,068) (99,178)
ik Termination (25,024) - (25,024)
72024512 A31H As at 31 December 2024 97,629 284,560 382,189
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

15. #HE (&) 15. LEASES (Continued)
TEBIEREBA (Z) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
FR HEAGBHNEREENIESHW The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
N movements during the year are as follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
F4 At beginning of year 126,425 141,549
AL New leases 78,065 94,100
HEMB AT Disposal of a subsidiary = (658)
Accretion of interest
FAEREFISIZ N recognised during the year 4,127 7,456
B Payments (87,617) (107,331)
Ak Termination (28,448) (8,691)
FR At end of year 92,552 126,425
DB Analysed into:
ENER S Current portion 52,004 72,065
ERENE D Non-current portion 40,548 54,360
HMEBENIHIE RS B R The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
FKHET41 P HEE o in note 41 to the financial statements.
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

15. #HE (&) 15. LEASES (Continued)
TEBEREBEA (Z) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) THENEFEZRNZTENT : (¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation

to leases are as follows:

HBZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERGENR Interest on lease liabilities 4,127 7,456
FRAEEENTERY Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 99,178 103,472
AR I EE E R E Gain on early termination of leases (3,424) (168)
M HHEBHENER Expense relating to short-term leases 16,475 12,921
RERERNA D Total amount recognised in profit or loss 116,356 123,681
(@ TEEMIBEL AL AENIEREW (d) The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in
H34(c)PIRE - note 34(c) to the financial statements.
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16.

Hitv B EE

2024128318
R2024%1 A1H :
N
BT
REFE
72024F1 A1 BRIKAS + f0BR RET#ESH
B
R
FREHEE

R2024F12 318 - 0k 5+

R2024%12 A31H
N
RET 5

AREHE

REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2024

At 1 January 2024:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2024,
net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Transfer
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2024,
net of accumulated amortisation

At 31 December 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

LoXs

Software
AR¥T T
RMB’000

34,670
(9,046)

25,624

25,624
2,980
18,650
(5,290)

41,964
56,300

(14,336)

41,964
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

16. HtEFEE (&)

202312 A31H

R2023F1A18 ¢

A
REH

FREFE

72023F1 A1 BRIACA » Nk BT 5H

NE
ELEE:

FARTIREH

PR2023F12 A31H - kR RT8EH

R2023F12 A31H

DN
REH

FREFE

BEKARBERDA

| 2024 EEHRE

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2023,
net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Transfer
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2023,
net of accumulated amortisation

At 31 December 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

EINLS
Software
ARETTT
RMB’000

25,837
(5,246)

20,591

20,591
5,614
3,219

(3,800)

25,624

34,670

(9,046)

25,624
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. R—XBEQXANRKRE

R—ZBEQTNRE

DMEBEEFE

R2022F 48 - AEBENURSEHEBEAR
3,000,000 T W BB T R B R AE B R D %
ERAER AT (HUMEHERME]) #930% A
- ZARA REBRERMHEENEH
WAFE] o A E# AN ERIRIEZ
RANERHERBLETART - A5E

Share of net assets

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Investment in an associate

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

= 3,016

In April 2022, the Group acquired 30% equity interest in
Henan Jizhuangxiang Catering Management Co., Ltd.
(“Henan Jizhuangxiang”), a domestic company with
principle activity of food-selling, at a cash consideration
of RMB3,000,000. As the voting power of Henan
Jizhuangxiang is determined by subscribed capital

BRESEE B G RERE - AR contribution according to its articles of association, the

R INE AL o Group has the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions and therefore can exercise

significant influence over Henan Jizhuangxiang.

TRIIRANEFB S AT EER M= TE The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

BRSO BEER information of the Group’s associate that is not
individually material:
M2A31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®TT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FEDHBE R A Share of the associate’s

(E18),/ &7 (losses)/profits for the year (3,016) 196
DM EARNER Share of the associate’s total

(B518),/ W= 42 %8 comprehensive (loss)/income (3,016) 196
REBERE SR RIRER Carrying amount of the Group’s

FREARE investment in the associate - 3,016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

18. EEAUQAABEFEARESHITAR

18. EQUITY INVESTMENT DESIGNATED AT FAIR

thE2EWENRERE VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥ETT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEAUAREEFEZR Equity investment designated at fair value
HEit A\ Et2EmRs through other comprehensive income
HRERE
IELTRERE - BAN Unlisted equity investment, at fair value
BEFTEEREXER Guangdong Huicha Catering
EEERAT] Management Co., Ltd. 6,590 10,460

R T B IR B OAR o B
{58 A HBBH AR E RS - 1T
R AR ER BRI S AR -

19. HiERBEE

W% - B R REBENR

plant and equipment

HAib®\ & EFRN IR
REPHEERS

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

Prepayments for other intangible assets
Long-term rental deposit

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income as
the Group considers this investment to be strategic in
nature.

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments for property,

M12A31H
As at 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
80,164 1,165,367
6,878 -
8,729 11,986
95,771 1,177,353




20.

21.

e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

78 20. INVENTORIES
M12831H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Raw materials 634,637 899,048
EERK i Finished goods 1,533,578 1,278,341
fEEm Work in progress 94,411 89,645
2,262,626 2,267,034
FERERE Provision for impairment of inventories (47,274) (35,320)
HEt Total 2,215,352 2,231,714
RER REBEKAERZNTZERES During the year, the impairment of inventories
AR #36,995,0007T (2023 4F : ARKE recognised in cost of sales amounted to RMB36,995,000
32,189,0007T) ° (2023: RMB32,189,000).
B S EWEIE 21. TRADE RECEIVABLES
M12A831H8
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 5 EINFIA Trade receivables 25,946 32,191
E Impairment (322) (3,718)
45 Total 25,624 28,473
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

21.

E S EWRA (F)

FNEEHHERE S ERE T NEN
HE - ARHERETHMBEATFNE
ER-—RA—EA  BoFFPTEME=
fEA o 2R B 3 8 W SRIR AR5 B AR 12 1 A
BRAEEERER o BN AT RAKER
BIRERBELSREZRET/ER  HY
BEAEESTRAR - AEELENE S
FEYCRIBAE SRS B AT m R E A

ERERENE - 85 BUGAGSRATE
E\ o

RBER - B 5 RUGRIAN R D7
(ERBERBEHAREHRERER) IT

1EA Within 1 year
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Advance payment is normally required for the sale to
franchisees. For certain non-franchisee customers,
the credit period granted is generally one month and
extending up to three months for some customers.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
receivables to minimise credit risk. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to various diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. The
balances of trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
25,624 28,473
25,624 28,473




21.

e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

EZEWFIE (&) 21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
BRI ERBEEEZSHINT - The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:
M2A31H
As at 31 December

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEA) At beginning of year 3,718 903
BB R FER Impairment loss, net 169 3,348
2 sE A A E R FRI8 Amount written off as uncollectible (3,565) (533)
FER At end of year 322 3,718

REE R R BRI S IS ERIE TR E
ML ARHRTREERBAEE - it
AHEFPTE E SRR E A 2 EMER
BXEE - ARBEZEAREERRD
FENE 5 RWSIRR R AT ETRRE
FRBK o K& FEWRIBBE R B HA TR AR
B BFRZETAER -

BFEEBEREXL  EZEKFER
RIEH R E R R ke A REuET
DA o BIEMER TN EIEER - 2024
F12A31HMEMEREAEAE1.24%
(20234 : 11.55%) °

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables. The Group
considers the characteristics of the shared credit risk
and the ageing of the trade receivables to measure the
expected credit losses. Majority of the receivables were
neither past due nor impaired and relate to diversified
customers.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. Forward-looking information was
also incorporated. The expected credit loss rate was
1.24% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 11.55%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

22. FAMNRIE HttEWHREREMEE

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS
M12A31H

As at 31 December
2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR%T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARG Prepayments 103,485 108,002
e RE M EREIE Deposits and other receivables 55,238 27,132
ALY el (B R Recoverable VAT 277,234 216,147
Ef&EE Other assets 76,580 54,862
512,537 406,143
B L Impairment allowance (32) (1,715)
512,505 404,428

R2024F12A31 8 st AXEBEBNK
TR - Hofh WK IR I B At B EE A FE AT A
FHREANRET92,0007T (20234 : A
[K#288,0007T) - BREMKIER R —FRW
@ °

23. UAABETEBHEEHTTABRENS

Amount due to the related parties included in the
Group’s prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are RMB792,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB288,000), which are recoverable within one year.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

MEE PROFIT OR LOSS
M12A31H
As at 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB E M Wealth management products 3,491,643 746,046

IR EE fn B AR AR IR o

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

The wealth management products include structured
deposits.



RERBAESESEY  EHERRZRE

B&

RE

Re kR eEHED
—FRBHNERFR
ERHBEE

FERE
BB —F B HIRE TR

ATHIEREEHE
AR

XL

BT

BEE
EEERGE

ARBAATEHABRSEMER - A
BRI E AR MBI IME E R IRH]) K&
(I - EENNETERTE)  AEER
B BEREETTINERBHRITHAR

BABMSHMBER -

e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H

31 DECEMBER 2024

24, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME

DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED CASH

Current

Cash and cash equivalents

Time deposits mature within one year
Restricted cash

Non-current
Time deposits mature over one year

Denominated in:
Renminbi

United States Dollars
Hong Kong Dollars
Viethamese Dong
Indonesian Rupiah
Thai Baht

Malaysian Ringgit

M12A31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
4,335,123 5,621,904
1,304,993 10,056
10,811 105,564
5,650,927 5,737,524
1,966,926 300,000
7,319,071 5,805,181
203,930 39,693
3,796 156
21,128 26,668
53,064 153,457
6,989 5,437
9,875 6,932
7,617,853 6,037,524

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Regulations on the Foreign Exchange
Control of the PRC and the Administrative Regulations
on Settlements, Sales and Payments in Foreign

Exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for

other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

25. EZESFUE 25. TRADE PAYABLES

RER - ENERBHNE S RMNKIADN

FRie DATINT

1EAR Within 1 month
1E3{EA 1 to 3 months
3E61EH 3 to 6 months
6lEAZ=15E 6 months to 1 year
1F A E Over 1 year

BHRNFEATEHE - —MN30BA
#HE - R2024F 12 A31H © sTALEE
B 5 SIAM BB T B A AR
7,824,0007T (20234 : AR®1,694,000
TT) °
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An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

M12831H
As at 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,719,436 1,178,493
35,422 130,038
6,613 4,904
1,259 2,374
4,533 971
1,767,263 1,316,780

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally
settled on terms of within 30 days. Amounts due to the
related parties included in the Group’s trade payables
are RMB7,824,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,694,000).



REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

26. HtbfEN AR EE M 26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
M2A31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARBFR AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WE : Current:
FER T & RABH Payroll and welfare payable 472,348 336,072
RS Deposit payable 960,953 689,513
FEETE A Rk B Ab FES 3UE Accruals and other payables 499,013 498,708
H A AR Other tax payable 111,311 47,322
2,043,625 1,571,615
FERE : Non-current:
FEET B R R EAE IR Accrual and other payables 20,712 60,408
FETi4 THAR I N BB 1735 2K B AN B3 pg 9 4~F Deposit payables arise from payments from franchisees
HoENERAREMEMNIIEIERY according to the franchise agreements. Accruals and
¥ . BENRBEMNIE - other payables mainly represent payables for property,

plant and equipment.

N2024F12A318 ' st ARNEEFEHAM Amounts due to related parties included in the Group’s
FEZELEE R ENMNEE T RIE other payables and accruals are RMB1,318,000 as at 31
B AK®1,318,0007T (2023F : ARKE December 2024 (2023: RMB157,000).

157,0007T) °

G BENEREREMNIEI - HibfE Except for payables for property, plant and equipment,
SRR EAER AT RN BEIRENKE other payables and accruals were non-interest-bearing
= o and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

27. BHAERE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20245 2023
2024 2023
ARBT T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HE Current:
BEERIB Sales of goods and equipment 62,401 25,711
HRERFIAR RE AR TS Franchise and related services 297,235 233,560
359,636 259,271
FRE : Non-current:
0 EE AN AR B8 AR 7% Franchise and related services 7,822 24,975
REBHESHAETERGERNLEER Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
HNER pE UL B Y FBA ZhIE DA R 3R 8 INEE PS5 advance payments received from franchisees for goods
HEERTHAINE B RIEERSEMEL - and equipment and fees of deferred upfront franchise

and related services from franchised stores.
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

28. EIEWE 28. DEFERRED INCOME
M2A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NEdisg 2] Government grants 134,090 122,407
NEFNRERNNBRFEEE BN T ¢ Movements in government grants of the Group during
the year are as follows:
M2A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T ARBETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEA At beginning of year 122,407 58,024
BB A 47 B Government grants received 18,822 67,175
RERNFTAGZEIBRK Credited to the consolidated statement

of profit or loss during the year (7,139) (2,792)
FRER At end of year 134,090 122,407
ANEBWREYE  MERBEBELANE The Group received government grants related to capital
ANEAY BENEBN@EE - 252N B expenditure incurred for property, plant and equipment.
BEKIGETAFEREENIEL L% - The amounts are deferred and amortised over the

estimated useful lives of the respective assets.
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

29. FFESRITREMMER 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

2024512831 H
As at 31 December 2024
BERRIZE(%) FHE AR®BTR
Effective
interest rate

(%) Maturity RMB’000
RED Current
IRITE R — EIIHA Bank loans — unsecured \ \ -
EAbfE sk — EIKIH Other borrowings — unsecured \ \ =
M2023F12 A31H
As at 31 December 2023
B IR 2 (%) RHA A AREFIT
Effective
interest rate
(%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
R Current
RITER — |IEA Bank loans — unsecured 2.80%-3.00% 2024 240,211
Efbfg R — EIEF Other borrowings — unsecured \ 2024 19,537

259,748
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REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

30. EZERIE 30. DEFERRED TAX

RERNRRERIBEEZSHIAT : The movements in deferred tax assets during the year

are as follows:

NAAEE
BEfE  HEEH
SEn TRAMEE HARRR RETARER
REEEH  ARERR WAK  WEREE
BEAE APRKE AENER  UNED NAERER  HERE At st
Unrealised
Losses losses from
available for Goverment  financial
Unrealised  offsetting grants assets at fair
gains arising against  received value
from future not yet through
Impairment  intra-group taxable  recognised profit Lease
of assets transactions profits s income orloss liabilities Others Total
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
202351718 At 1 January 2023 5,519 12,3382 8,646 14,506 595 22,189 - 63,787
FREA/(HA) Deferred tax credited/{charged)
BABRRMETRE  tothe consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year 19,808 21,380 14,957 11,322 (595) 74 5,582 72,528
R2023F12 43188 Gross deferred tax assets
BRREEELE at 31 December 2023 25,301 33,712 23,603 25,828 - 22,263 5,582 136,315
200451 A18 At 1 January 2024 25,327 33,712 23,603 25,828 - 22,263 5,582 136,315
ERitA/(n8) Deferred tax credited/(charged)
BABRRMETRE  tothe consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year 2,119 6,865 (11,636) 1,415 - (35) (5,297) (6,569)
R2024%12A31A%  Gross deferred tax assets
BEREEELE at 31 December 2024 2446 0577 11967 27,243 - 2Mm %5 129,746
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

30. EERIE(E) 30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

R2024%F12 831 H @ HAEFBE A
EA A ARE142,131,0007T (20234 :
AR#47,176,0007T) )18 E5 1B MERIE
EFRIBEE - B IEEE N AREEARR
FERTRFE A AR AS P E5F A EIHR o

ANER B S AR IR R 1R N AT HURL s = 5
HERELERAEE - WITHARZFHEAE
BRAIRE R ZRAED N —REBRE
BEONBAREL - BWREA T KA
B FERIRE A E R (R &) A A% TR B 18 N AT HRL
HRZR

REAMEEHRBEZSHIT

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of tax losses of
RMB142,131,000 (2023: RMB47,176,000) arising in
mainland China, which will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year
are as follows:

NRAEETE
BH%8
FTABE
SREEN
mEHERE  RAELEE  RERKE @t
Unrealised
gains from
financial assets
Accelerated at fair value
tax  Right-of-use through
depreciation assets  profit or loss Total
ARBT R ARETR AR¥TR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 - 22,189 81 22,270
FRIBREERRNELIR Deferred tax charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year - 2,007 1,787 3,794
R2023F12 A31 HEERIRAEEE Gross deferred tax liabilities
at 31 December 2023 - 24,19 1,868 26,064
2024F1 A1 A At 1 January 2024 - 24,196 1,868 26,064
FRIA /(GHA) A BRERAETHIE Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the year 30,443 (1,061) 787 30,169
R2024512 831 BWEEREAEERE Gross deferred tax liabilties
at 31 December 2024 30,443 23,135 2,655 56,233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

30. EEHIE (&) 30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
?ﬁ%@mﬁe ETEREHBEERAED

RERB P BEARRNRAEE - LT RAEHEH
Th 1 7% R i B 9V h MR AE B IR 45 BR D

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The following is an

T - analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for

financial reporting purposes:

M2A318
As at 31 December
2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARBTR ARBFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
i v? B SARR R R A Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
EERIBEEFE consolidated statement of financial position 76,005 111,889
RS B AR R FESR Y Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
I B E/F5E consolidated statement of financial position 2,492 1,638
31. R 31. SHARE CAPITAL
M2A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT ARBTFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEITREEAR - Issued and fully paid:
TR Ordinary shares 360,000 360,000
NATIEANESFEN L a0 T - A summary of movements in the Company’s share
capital is as follows:
ERITROHBE IR
Number of
shares
in issue Share capital
ARMT T
RMB’000
720234 2024412 H31H At 31 December 2023 and 2024 360,000,000 360,000
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e MBERRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

32. f#fE

AEENRESEMEZEHNTHRERD
RARDEBRTES -

(@) EEfRE

REBEPEARDE  APEELHL
RIZABEEREFEN10% o e
EEXETERE  BEEZRHEEED
NAElFMERES0% - KHEEH
EBPIHLAETR - VEEREE AT AR
E RETE RGN A BB E
R o SETE R T A A B
NEINEDREA AD KIS

(b) EXGHE

ERRER)AND AEERFEARNE
BREBRANE S (i) WKEAEE
P A RIEY FEIE AR e 2 K% (i) 722020
FEBARNHBR AR - EARFEE
BEFBRANTBRENGZEES

(c) AREEENRMOIRHE
MBS ENBR DX IRHERREE

B DRSO 8 B RO B D ST RS2 Y
AAEE (RHEI3E— @) -

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

32. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the

movements therein are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in the financial

statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
companies registered in the PRC are required to
allocate 10% of the statutory after tax profits to the
statutory reserve until the cumulative total of the
reserve reaches 50% of the companies registered
capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC
authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to
offset any accumulated losses or increase the
registered capital of the companies. The statutory
reserve is not available for dividend distribution to
equity holders of the PRC subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents (i) the excess of
capital contributions from the equity holders of the
Company over the share capital; (i) the acquisition
of non-controlling interests in the Group’s
subsidiaries and (iii) the conversion into a joint
stock company with limited liability underwent in
2020. Details of the movement in capital reserve
are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve

The equity-settled share-based payment
reserve comprises the fair value of the equity-
settled share-based payment granted, as further
explained in note 33.



e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. fEE(E)

(d)

(e)

URAREBEEFEEHSETAHM
PHBENEREENDABER
]

AR BEFEREZEHT AR
PHRSNEREEN AL EER
BEBEENANEBEAERRE
BEFAH 2 e RAERE
REE R (RHE18E— /i) -

BE 7K B i
FEX KB FEARCHEERERD

EEBTIFARBNEBNNEE
K EE A HOBE 5 =5 -

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

32. RESERVES (Continued)

(C)

(e)

Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income

The fair value reserve of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
compromises the cumulative loss of equity
investment designed as fair value through other
comprehensive income, as further explained in
note 18.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial information of entities of which the
functional currencies are not RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

33. RS 33. SHARE BASED PAYMENT
REA - BRIEFREFT B BITEIN AR #E The following equity-settled share-based payment was

BERRB AR

outstanding under the defined scheme during the year:

InEEF T EE RO EHE

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price shares
BRARE T TR
RMB per share ’000
R2023F1H1H At 1 January 2023 19.60 551
BT Granted 19.60 15
5B Vested 19.60 (5)
R Forfeited 19.60 (5)
7202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 19.60 556
7202441 A1H At 1 January 2024 19.60 556
BT Granted - -
118 Exercised - -
B Forfeited - -
7202412 A31H At 31 December 2024 19.60 556
B R A EEE IO Y MR The fair value of equity-settled share-based payment
SEEREY BT RS E5E granted was estimated as at the date of grant using
1HET - WET R IR B =R AR o recent transaction price, taking into account the terms

% BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

and conditions upon which the shares were granted.



34.

e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REREREBRME
@ EXFREXRS

(b)

34.

RERN  AEBERBEREEEFD
FRAREENERESREAAR
#78,065,0007T (20234 : AR¥
94,100,000T0) A RFHEEBAR
¥ 78,065,000 T (20234 : AR¥

94,100,0007T) °

METHELENEELD

BZE2024F12A31BLEEE

2024451818
RARSHER
SIS

A
FRERFSIE N

RIEHEEEH

R2024%F12 A31H

At 1 January 2024

Changes from financing cash flows

Interest accrued
New leases

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets of RMB78,065,000
(2023: RMB94,100,000) and lease liabilities
of RMB78,065,000 (2023: RMB94,100,000),
respectively, in respect of lease agreements.

(o) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

Year ended 31 December 2024

Accretion of interest recognised

during the year

SRAT R H AR HESE
Bank and
other
borrowings Lease liabilities
AR¥T T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
259,748 126,425
(261,988) (87,617)
2,240 -
- 78,065
- 4,127
Termination of lease contracts - (28,448)
At 31 December 2024 - 92,552
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e MBERRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

34. GEUERBRME (&)

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) RMETBHELENEERE (F) (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continueq)

HZE2023FE12 A31 B ILEE

72023F1 818
BERSREZ
FEETHIE

ALY
FNFERAFI 2B A0

HEHB AT
BIERESH

72023F12 A31H

(c) HEMHEESRHLAZE

*JF)\ZrH/\ imu%i‘%ﬁﬁfﬂ m

|—|u:l| IVEA %ﬁ QD —F N

REEHA
BRERBA
REEBA

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

At 1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash flows

Interest accrued

New leases

Accretion of interest recognised
during the year

Disposal of a subsidiary

Termination of lease contracts

At 31 December 2023

Year ended 31 December 2023

HRIT R EAME K HEARE
Bank and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
AREBTT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
140,088 141,549
112,419 (107,331)

7,241 -

- 94,100

- 7,456

- (658)

- (8,691)

259,748 126,425

(c) Total cash outflows for leases

The total cash outflows for leases included in

the consolidated statement of cash flows are as

follows:

Within operating activities
Within investing activities
Within financing activities

HZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
16,475 12,921
1,340 41
87,617 107,331
105,432 120,293




e M B RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. HRAREE 35.

MR20245 % 2023FE 12 A31H » REE K
KABETMERKAERE -

36. EEIEMA 36.

PANERERT R EMERMERNAEH
BEFIFENT S MAME29 -

37. EiIE 37.

RIMEHRR - REEBUTEAHKIE

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, neither the Group
nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
bank and other borrowings are included in note 29 to
the financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

M128318
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEEYE BEK Contracted, but not provided for purchase
RABET B R BHE of property, plant and equipment 293,584 574,038
A& R RN AR Capital contributions payable to
a joint venture 105,000 6,000
398,584 580,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

38. BEtLTRS

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AEBRFERNEBETETUTEAR The Group had the following material transactions with

5

(@) EERBILHIRZ :

RS HEE m R R

Hofth BB
RS R E R R

— B AT
ITEEBAR
1o BB

5 B B R
TEERAS

(b) EREAESHHMRS :

£iF3
H At BARE 5

% BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

related parties during the year:

(@) Transactions with related parties:

HBZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of products and services to

related parties
Other related parties 155 109
Purchases of products and services

from related parties

An associate 44,880 21,839
Key management personnel 216 =
Other related parties 357 37

Lease from related parties
Key management personnel 1,036 1,855

(b) Other transactions with related parties:

HZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Expense
Other related parties 9 -



38. BBMARS (F)

(c) EEREELHRERERH

REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H

31 DECEMBER 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties:

FE R BAH 75 RE Amounts due from related parties:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S : Trade related:
H At BAEs Other related parties 3 78
FEEBEABNREES Key management personnel and
BIBMERIA L those closely related to them 789 210
792 288
PE{SEREE S FRIR ¢ Amounts due to related parties:
M12831H8
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B S8 : Trade related:
—REE N A An associate 7,636 1,694
FEEBAERERS Key management personnel and
FYIEERHAT those closely related to them 1,506 157
9,142 1,851

FEUCRERE T R R EER - 2B R
ARIREEIRRER - TR R
FIASEER RERARENRE
% o

Amounts due from related parties were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on credit terms, and
amounts due to related parties were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2024512 A31H

31 DECEMBER 2024

38. BHARS (&) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d TEEXEEBEASNHMH : (d) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

HZE12A31ALEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AR¥TTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
e ZEREYEM Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 14,753 10,835
EIEIEAL Discretionary bonuses 50,519 13,180
RIKEFT B Pension scheme contributions 371 269
LABSAEAE B B D S B S.  Equity-settled share-based

payment expenses 958 2,480

THFEEEEAEN Total compensation paid to key
= R management personnel 66,601 26,764
EHREENSFSTHAEMESHE Further details of directors’ and the chief
— B EE B TR IREMTEFO o executive’s emoluments are included in note 9 to

the financial statements.
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39.

BERESNEMTA

REEHR - SER S E TR REEL

- %

2024F12A31H

SREE Financial assets

REBNALEMBENZR Equity investment designated at fair

b N ] value through other
Wi E comprehensive income
AARBENEAAES Financial assets at fair value
SABRRSREE through profit or loss
BARNIE Trade receivables
SPATERZUE - EfofEZU8  Financial assets included in prepayments,
REMEENERAE other receivables and other assets
XBHRS Restricted cash
EEER Time deposits
AR B AR Financial assets included in other
tREE non current assets
BERREEED Cash and cash equivalents

REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

31 December 2024

UARER UAREE
FTRERSE  HEAHED
SAREN  HAHMRE
SHEE WENEREE
Financial asset
Financial at fair value
assetsatfair  through other
value through  comprehensive
profit or loss income
BEEER
NAREE
TREHEH 75 5
AR ARGt R
SHEE hERE SREE @t
Mandatorily
designated as Financial
financial assets at
assets at Equity amortised
FVTPL investment cost Total
ARBTR ARMTR N S ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- 6,590 - 6,590
3,491,643 - - 3,491,643
- - 25,624 25,624
- - 55,206 55,206
- - 10,811 10,811
- - 3,271,919 3,271,919
- - 8,729 8,729
- - 4,335,123 4,335,123
3,491,643 6,590 7,707,412 11,205,645
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

39. REFEIHNEMIE (Z)
2024%128318 (&)
SRaE

B SRR
SEARMENFAERETERNERMAE

HERIE

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

31 December 2024 (Continued)

REERATEN
SEasE
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

AR¥T

RMB’000

Trade payables 1,767,263
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 1,480,678

Lease liabilities 92,552

3,340,493




39. RERESIWERMTE(E)

202312 A31H

THAE

EEANAREEEAEED
AR 2ERENRERE
W EfEsTE BERFEA

BRnEREE
BARYHE
sTATRAE - RAEMUAR

EEENSRER
RHRE
THER

SARMIERDEEN S HAR

ReRReSEN

REMBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

(Continued)

31 December 2023

ARAREE

WRiBE HEEEE
B AHES AR
SARRN  2EkEN
TREE SREE
Financial asset
Financial assets at fair value
atfairvalue  through other
through profit -~ comprehensive

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial assets or loss income
BT R
NMEBEHE
BEEH
SHARRS REHRR
THEE KRS HEMEREE @t
Mandatorily
designated as Financial assets
financial assets Equity ~ atamortised
at FVTPL investment cost Total
ARETT ARETT N S ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Equity investment designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income - 10,460 - 10,460
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 746,046 - - 746,046
Trade receivables - - 28,473 28,473
Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets - - 25,417 25,417
Restricted cash - - 105,564 105,564
Time deposits - - 310,056 310,056
Financial assets included in other
non current assets - - 11,986 11,986
Cash and cash equivalents - - 5,621,904 5,621,904
746,046 10,460 6,103,400 6,859,906
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REMBGERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

39. RERESWEMIA (E) 39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

2023F12 4318 (&) 31 December 2023 (Continued)
RSN ANETER
TRIBE
Financial liabilities
EHEE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
ARETIT
RMB’000
B SN RIA Trade payables 1,316,780

STAHMENRERETEANSRARE  Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 1,248,629
FHEERIT REMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 259,748
HEAE Lease liabilities 126,425
2,951,582
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40.

e M B RRME
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40.

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, current portion of time deposits
and restricted cash, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments. Management has also assessed the
fair value of non-current portion of time deposits and
restricted cash approximate to its carrying amount.

The Group’s finance centre is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value management of financial instruments. The finance
centre reports directly to the chief financial officer and
the board of directors. At each reporting date, the
finance centre analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the board of
directors for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income,
management adopts discounted cash flow valuation
model with some unobservable inputs.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

40. ERMIANAAREERLIAEERER  40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
(#%&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
REEBNUAAEESEAEEH AB Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
SRS REERETRAMBITHIEME the Group represent wealth management products with

o GMEBMUTFERME  ANBEDIRE banks in mainland China. For the structured deposits,
B‘A[ﬁa’*u&/\fa’ﬁﬁiﬁ-l-fﬁiﬂm-l-g FE A the fair values are based on expected cash flow
B ERMNE @  AABEDERERNTER from implied yield, and for other wealth management
BEEFEELMTERBIETERE=T products, the fair values are based on the quoted net
£ assets value per unit and the discount factor for lack of

marketability.
TREF2024F 2 2023F12 A31H 2% Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
MTAMBEERTABERGABRE - & to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
[FlE EHRE T quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024
and 2023:
BAEMETSE
Weighted average of inputs
pUPIES 20235
i [AERIT TUBEHAE  12B%R  12A31A  OAEEHEAEZEEE
Valuation Unobservable 31 December 31 December
Description technique inputs 2024 2023 Sensitivity of fair value to the input
SERNAAEETERARHA WAE  KEERE 200% 200%  2024F12A317
,\ﬁﬁ@ﬁlﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ ERE
Equity investments designated at fair Income Perpetual 2.00% 2.00% 31 December 2024:

value through other comprehensive  approach  growth rate {EE LT/ TEAVEES B ERAAEEARIEN /BD ARBL00007 R

income ARH50,0007C ©

% BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

10 base points increase/decrease in multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by RMB40,000/RMB50,000, respectively.

023%F12A31H
31 December 2023:

8L/ THRIORERREHALEEARIEM /H D ARRT0000TR
ARET0,0007 °
10 base points increase/decrease in multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by RMB70,000/RMB70,000, respectively.
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202412 831 H
31 DECEMBER 2024

40. ERMIANAABERAIAEERER 40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

4Z) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

BABMBTSY

Weighted average of inputs

pUES 20235
i fhERl TUEEHAE 128318 128318 OABEHEAEZHEE
Valuation Unobservable 31 December 31 December
Description technique inputs 2024 2023 Sensitivity of fair value to the input

7R 13.01% 1244% 20245128318
Discount rate 13.01% 12.44% 31 December 2024:
B8 LR/ THIEESHEERABEARIRS /EMARC00007R
ARE70,0007T °
10 base points increase/decrease in multiple would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by RMB60,000/RMB70,000, respectively.

2023512A31A

31 December 2023:

B/ THIORERHEANL EEARIRS / EMARE1100007R
ARE1100007 °

10 base points increase/decrease in multiple would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by RMB110,000/RMB110,000, respectively.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

40. ERMTENIABERAAREBEER

(%)

ARTBET ENEE

Fair value hierarchy

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

ERATRERTAAEENE

Fair value measurement using

REEBME EXTBE EXATABE
HRE BARE BAYE
Quoted prices  Significant  Significant

R2024F128318
ETANAABETZAEEE
FAR 2 EM SRR E

AR BEAEBEZFHA
BHEMEREE

R2023F12 A31H
EERBUAABETEEHES
SEARM 2 ERRERIERE

l:/\Z\\/AL 1:#%&3 @Ju“‘]\
RRmerEE

As at 31 December 2024

Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023

Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

inactive  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(E—-%) (5=8) (F=4) @t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTT AR%®TRT AR®TRT AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- - 6,590 6,590
275,111 3,216,532 - 3,491,643
275,111 3,216,532 6,590 3,498,233
- - 10,460 10,460
675,824 70,222 - 746,046
675,824 70,222 10,460 756,506
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

40. ERIANAABERAAEERER 40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

(#%&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
DMREERER () Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
UREEFAEREZE (&) Assets measured at fair value (Continued)
REERN E=FA AN EBEFEEFHWN The movements in fair value measurements within Level
T 3 during the year are as follows:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEANRAREETGERE  Equity investments designated at fair value
B AHMEERER through other comprehensive income
PRIERE
F1 At beginning of year 10,460 11,400
=N Capital redemption (3,000) -
RE A 2 E W R Total loss recognised in other
[E 1R 4a%E comprehensive income (870) (940)
FR At end of year 6,590 10,460
2024412 A31 8 » NEEWEH UL The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
AEEEHEREE (20234 : &) o at fair value at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
MEER - BES—RES & 7EHL During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
ABETEER  TEOE=KEARE measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
HEREAERSRE & (20234 : &) - transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets

and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).
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31 DECEMBER 2024

41.

B EREEBEREE
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, cash
and cash equivalent and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group has adopted a treasury policy which sets out
overall principles as well as detailed approval processes
of the purchase and redemption of wealth management
products.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The management of the
Company reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the units’ functional
currencies. In addition, the Group has currency
exposures mainly from its cash and cash equivalent,
trade receivables and trade payables.
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41.

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 1%
increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currencies
against the functional currency. It includes only
outstanding monetary items denominated in a foreign

= e currency and adjusts their translation at the end of each
reporting period for a 1% change in foreign currency
rates.
BLATFIE CR2) i
(Decrease)/increase
in profit before tax
M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T AR E If USD weakens against RMB (857) (527)
WETHAREHE If USD strengthens against RMB 857 527
MARBHEEZERREERE If RMB weakens against IDR 256 1,683
MAREHEERAEEE If RMB strengthens against IDR (256) (1,683)
fiWMZE T A AR E If USD weakens against VND (36) 353
WA MR EHE If USD strengthens against VND 36 (353)
WARBHSHRE If RMB weakens against MYR 65 158
MARKHSEME If RMB strengthens against MYR (65) (158)

FEZEB Interest rate risk

AEBMRITHES (REEMN KT ENE
H R RBRITERRIN) HBRITH IS X
KEMERRSRENXAR - NRAE
B ERSAKBBIRITEERMET BIRITIA
K EAE AT R A R E R IL A EK

The Group’s bank balances, other than short-term and
long-term bank deposits which are at fixed interest rate,
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.
The management of the Company consider the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk in respect of bank balances
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings is not
significant.
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31 DECEMBER 2024

41.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the management
of the Company consider the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

12(8RR
BHEREX 2HRBEREL
12-month
2024127318 31 December 2024 ECLs Lifetime ECLs
£-kg  ECER SRR #ad @3t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
EFRIGE Trade receivables* - - - 25,046 25,946
STARATE - AEGUER Financial assets included in prepayments, other
EMEERNERER receivables and other assets
-E&E" - Normal™ 55,238 - - - 55,238
THERRERHERS Time deposits and restricted cash
- WA - Not yet past due 3,282,730 - - - 3280730
HfsEneEE Other non-current assets
— BB ~Not yet past due 8,729 - - - 8,729
ReRESEEN Cash and cash equivalents
- HABH - Not yet past due 4,335,123 - - - 4335128
7,681,820 - - 56 7707766

2024 FERSE
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2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

2023124318 31 December 2023
B HRYGE Trade receivables*
STABRTE - EtERFER Financial assets included in prepayments,
EhAENeHER other receivables and other assets
- E&" - Normal*™
THEFRERRE Time deposits and restricted cash
- HABH - Not yet past due
EftIEngaE Other non-current assets
- BB - Not yet past due
ReRREZEN Cash and cash equivalents
- HARH - Not yet past due
O RAKEEAMEIRETRENES *

*k

JEWFIBM S @ EREEEEHERR
B HRER M 21 P EE o

i EEE - TEEMBETEREERN *
EERR B YT HRIARKEE M

AIFT ATERS SRR » ot 8 ORIR S EAd
BENGREENGEEERWEARIE

FleBR - ERMEENEEERERS

[AI&E] -

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

12(8ARA
BEEREX 2ERSEREL
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
g-Bg  2ZRR £=RR &6 st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- - - 32,191 32,191
27,132 - - - 27,132
415,620 - - - 415,620
11,986 - - - 11,986
5,621,904 - - - 5,621,904
6,076,642 - - 32,191 6,108,833

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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202412 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

4. BHREREBEEERBK (Z) 41,
REM R

AEEERTERASETEERREH
MR e RS FEEBYKRT  UARELREHN
BEeWRERSRENBH

REBREHR - AEERBEE KRR
RHERABIRERNAT

202412 A31H

B 5 RN R
FEARALER FA R
EETERMNESRAR
HERE

202312 A31H

B2 ENFIR

FEAR AL R IR K
EETERMNERAR
FHRERTT R EAD B

HERE

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalent deemed adequate by management of

TE o the Group to finance the operations and mitigate the

effects of fluctuations of cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2024

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

31 December 2023

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Lease liabilities

@ BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

15K 1FE55F AEr
Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Total
ARBTRT ARWBTRT AR®BTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,767,263 - 1,767,263
1,459,966 20,712 1,480,678
54,615 41,908 96,523
3,281,844 62,620 3,344,464
1R 15EZE5F HaET
Within 1 year 1to 5 years Total
ARETT ARBTT AR®BTET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,316,780 - 1,316,780
1,188,221 60,408 1,248,629
261,744 - 261,744
76,745 56,420 133,165
2,843,490 116,828 2,960,318
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41.

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise equity holders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to equity

RESGRR - RFER - BIE - BUEEIE holders, return capital to equity holders or issue new
Fr it EAE (2B © shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.
REBFREEAGLX (BAGEAFER The Group monitors capital using debt-to-asset ratio,
NEEREE) EEER - REMREHRL which is total liabilities divided by total assets. The ratios
BEEBGBLERNT as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:
M12831H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERE Total assets 19,783,322 14,593,566
BEHER Total liabilities 4,722,502 3,998,101
BEBEALE Debt-to-asset ratio 23.9% 27.4%

Annual Report 2024 | MIXUE Group é



e MBERRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

202412 A31H
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42, ARQFBBEMRREK
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o
o
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FRBEE

WmE - BELRE
EREEE
Hib B\ & E
RITB A RNIRE
EETRIREE
ERERARZRGRE
HibIERBEE

FRBEERE

REBEE
JE W I B A BB RR0R

BNFOR - BB K

HibEE
NAREBEFTEERE
BamEeMEE
ERFEREZRFS
Re LR EHED

hRBEERE
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/NI R3O SER S

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of

the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred tax assets

Time deposits and restricted cash
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Time deposits and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
391,304 28,207
281 3,252
2,313 2,633
1,493,935 1,103,533
12,501 18,640
1,013,876 300,000
3,346 328,465
2,917,556 1,784,730
2,035,012 2,004,299
34,871 33,116
2,513,471 222,139
652,243 1
2,119,284 1,397,094
7,354,881 3,656,649
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42, AT RREK () 42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REBERE CURRENT LIABILITIES
B S e FIR Trade payables 9,531 1,116
FEAHI B A BRI 3k T8 Due to subsidiaries 4,106,268 4,833
HipSIa M ETER Other payables and accruals 960,962 633,775
aHaE Contract liabilities 258,825 202,186
HEBRE Lease liabilities - 425
FERTEL SR Tax payable 420 20,998
REBEHEEE Total current liabilities 5,336,006 863,333
REEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,018,875 2,793,316
HWEERRBAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,936,431 4,578,046
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEAE Lease liabilities = 1,807
EAfth e FRIE R EET B Other payables and accruals 282 -
EEFIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 1,438 1,348
FRBEEHEEE Total non-current liabilities 1,720 3,155
EEFE NET ASSETS 4,934,711 4,574,891
ER EQUITY
N Share capital 360,000 360,000
&G Reserves 4,574,711 4,214,891
R Total equity 4,934,711 4,574,891
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42, QA THBRREK ()

ARRFER BT

HZE2024512A31ALEE

202451518 At 1 January 2024
FRFIE Profit for the year
FRZEYEEE Total comprehensive income for the year

IR ERRNT A 2 Equity-settled share-based
payments arrangements

12024512 A31H At 31 December 2024

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

COMPANY (Continued)

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

DREGEEN

Ry fs
ERfifs EERRE e RENE @t

Equity-settled

share-based

Capital Statutory payment Retained

reserve reserve reserve profits Total
ARBTR  ARBTR ARMTR AR%Tn ARWTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2,566,388 180,000 73,093 1,395,410 4,214,891
- - - 344,034 344,034
- - - 344,034 344,034
- - 15,786 - 15,786
2,566,388 180,000 88,879 1,739,444 4,574,711
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42. RARMBRRE (F)

43.

44.

B ZE2023F12 31 HILFE

20231518 At1 January 2023
ERFIE Profit for the year
FREENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year
IABREL BRI 1D T F % Equity-settled share-based
payments arrangements
ERARATE Transfer from retained profits
RE Dividend
1202312 4310 At 31 December 2023

REMRER 43.

7202563 A3H + ANRRIHRRBERZFr
FRET  BEERAARBEETFTEERE
HMREE - HE1TRREE17,059,900 A% H
B BB E(EA202.508 T o —IREEIT
SR IBMBREL R3,455 B BB T °

B iRk 2 Ht 44.

REGHRA D N2025E3 A26 HEEE S
HefE R AT -

2024F12 A31H
31 DECEMBER 2024

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

DAH&TENDSE:E}U
Bipseft
BB R Fefs REMNE a5t
Equity-settled
share-based
Capital Statutory payment Retained
reserve reserve reserve profits Total
ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETT  ARET:
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2,566,388 38,652 56,666 118,448 2,780,154
- - - 1,518,310 1,618,310
- - - 1,518,310 1,618,310
- - 16,427 - 16,427
- 141,348 - (141,348) -
- - - (100,000) (100,000)
2,566,388 180,000 73,093 1,395,410 4,214,891

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 March 2025, the Company’s H Shares were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, where
17,059,900 H Shares were issued and subscribed at an
offer price of HK$202.50 per H Share by way of initial
public offering to Hong Kong and overseas investors.
Gross proceeds from these issues amounted to
approximately HK$3,455 million.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.
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il
DEFINITIONS

RARER > BXBEASBMEIN U TAREE TIEE - ZFAELREBERVETMAITREEEE 2
BARGATERNRARER—TREENEM AR ARANAUEENARERETTHER -

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following meanings. These

expressions and their definitions may not correspond to any industry standard definitions, and may not be directly

comparable to similarly titled terms adopted by other companies operating in the same industries as the Company.

[BEZEA il
“associate(s)”

[ERR [ ARER] i1
“Articles” or “Articles

of Association”

= i
“Board” or “Board
of Directors”

[{bEE PR i1
“CG Code”

[HE i1
“China” or “PRC”

[ARE]] i1

“Company”, “the Company’
or “our Company”

[ER AR 5

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

BB R RIME T e R E
has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

ARFATER TS

the articles of association of our Company (as amended from time to time)

BFe

the board of Directors

EARRIMERC1 FE BRI

Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

hEARKME  AREREFREMBRE TS - TEREEE - R
RTTHE R & &

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, excluding Hong Kong and Macao Special
Administrative Regions and Taiwan

BEERBBRMNBERAGR - —KN2008F4 A0 EFEKNLHBREFA
Al R20205F12 A7 HEAHI S BR AR - FIESHMREEXEEAR
NRREMEZ AR EGRAR]

MIXUE Group (ZZ kBB ERAF), a limited liability company
established in the PRC on April 30, 2008 which was converted into a
joint stock company with limited liability on December 17, 2020, formerly
known as Zhengzhou Liangan Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.* (Z5/
METEEEAMRAAF]) and Zhengzhou Mi Xue Bing Cheng Commercial
Co., Ltd.* (BB EAINEEBRAF)

BB ETHEE TZANRE - BRABEE - RAHLE EAERRE
RET

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and refers to
Mr. Zhang Hongchao (3R4L8), Mr. Zhang Hongfu (3R4LF), Qingchun
Wuwei (5 &£ E) and Shiyu Zuxia (A2 T)



[EE k[ HMESE]
“Director(s)” or
“our Director(s)”

[EIREE ]
“Global Offering”

SRR A N

” W

“Group,” “our Group,”

“We" or nusu

THEA

“H Share(s)”

[T ]
“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

(&8 ]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[ BR3P ] ok [ B2 P
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange” or
“Stock Exchange”

EEE
DEFINITIONS

RABES

the director(s) of the Company

HERERAER S 2 REEHRK
the global offering of the H Shares in Hong Kong as described in the
Prospectus

RARIREWMB AR (X EATREPTIE) P ER—E - & (AXEME)
KPR R, SEMBRABREEAS (0E) LENER

our Company and its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may
require, and where the context requires, the businesses operated by our
Company and/or its subsidiaries and their predecessors (if any)

RABRAFEREBEARE1.00TH ETHEBER - BABTRBEREST
KR E BB AP BT

listed ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which is/are to be subscribed for and traded in
HK dollars and to be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BENEEE®ET
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

hEE A RAMBEEBRFRITHR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

EEMERGMBRRAR  EERIREEMERAFTNEEMBE AR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
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DEFINITIONS

[ BRI s s 2Rl B
“IFRS”

[ & ERRAITTH B

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ £ |
“Listing”

[ ETREH] |
“Listing Date”

[ ERAN e [F&E LR £
“Listing Rules” or “Hong

Kong Listing Rules’

[EWR] 15
“Main Board”
[ZAE<F A | 5
“Model Code”

é BEEAEBRBERAA | 2024 FERE

BRI BREER - BEERSFHEREESRMNER - B5T MEBUAN
BRetERZEenmrBRR et ER R3RE

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards,
amendments and interpretations promulgated by International Accounting
Standards Board and the International Accounting Standards and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Committee

2025F4 A13 R » BIAME IR RHETE & HATEE TEENREERA
THEA

April 13, 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information in this report prior to its publication

HARA B BB S PT AR ETh
listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

202553 A3 - BN MIeVHAR ETr A EE R B AE HEr B
March 3, 2025, on which our H Shares are listed and from which dealings
therein are permitted to take place on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BERMRPIES LM RA TEHERT - #WFsA R A7 &%)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

EEMRTEENZF XS (T RERETS) - BURE BB FTGEM
I EE T TIEE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel
with Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

LR AIMTERCIFTE LM EITAEFEITE SR HHIRLESTE)
the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules



[ R RR A ACHE |

“Over-allotment Option”

[ ERE ]

“Prospectus”

“Qingchun Wuwei”

Eza=ptil

“Reporting Period”

AR ]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[R5 RS 5B

“Securities and Futures
Ordinance” or “SFO”

[ A% 1%
“Share(s)”

&
“Shareholder(s)”

EEE
DEFINITIONS

I”‘

OH]

ARAREBEEREHEBZR TEREEBNBRE  THERHAA
(RREEBHM) TE BUERARAREFEBRERETREAH
2,558,900 RFESNHAR - AR BEIRBENBESR (10F) (EERBRE
2)

option granted by the Company to the International Underwriters,
exercisable by the Overall Coordinators (on behalf of the International
Underwriters) pursuant to the International Underwriting Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company may be required to allot and issue up to
an aggregate of 2,558,900 additional H Shares at the Offer Price to cover
over-allocations in the International Offering, if any (as defined in the
Prospectus)

RRARN2025F2 A21 A2 REER T 2 HEB AR EE TN RBRE
2

the prospectus dated February 21, 2025 issued by the Company in
connection with Hong Kong public offering under the Global Offering

BNEFEREXEEABEE (BARAR) - —KN20205F5 21 HEF
B ARAEREE - REMNE IHRTE 2 — REMOIERERRZ —
Zhengzhou Qingchun Wuwei Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (BINEEFEECEEEARLE(BREE)), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on May 21, 2020, one of our employee
shareholding platforms and one of our Controlling Shareholders

HZE2024F12 A31BHIEFE
the year ended December 31, 2024

REHEEEB AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

BREEDIEST B EH RBERD) (TRHER]  #Fs AR 77 &)
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

RRRRAHFIREEARE1.007TH) BB

ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each

[LSUESZEPN
holder(s) of shares
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DEFINITIONS

[N E T

“Shiyu Zuxia”

Koy NIl

“subsidiary(ies)”

[FZRRF]
“substantial shareholder(s)”

B

“Supervisor(s)”

-

“Supervisory Committee”

[FE Rk ]
“Unlisted Share(s)”

E3=
“U.S.” or “United States”

ESnl

“U.S. dollar”, “US$” or “USD”

[%]
“op

MR TREERABEE (ARER) » —KN2020F5H21 BEH
BRI BARAEBEE - REFINZERRRZ —

Zhengzhou Shiyu Zuxia Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (NN E THEEEABNE(BRAE)), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on May 21, 2020, and one of our
Controlling Shareholders

BB AR T AR RE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB EmR R T e R E
has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

EFEKE

member(s) of our Supervisory Committee

ARAPEER

the supervisory committee of the Company

RAFEITHEREEARE1.00 TN ERE - WENMEHARBHFIHM T
ordinary share(s) issued by our Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, which is/are not listed on any stock exchange

EFRERE  HELT B RIRNERAEEENMEHE
the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

XEMEEERET

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States

Ekagse
per cent

RERSZE - AREMBPBDER AR - BITHER - #1E  BRAREMCER (BERMANMEAR) 0&MHE
HEABHREXRAE - B EKE - BUAR R FE

For ease of reference, the names of Chinese laws and regulations, governmental authorities, institutions, natural

persons or other entities (including our subsidiary) have been included in this report in both the Chinese and English

languages and in the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.

Y ERES

*  For identification purposes only
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